

Copyright Undertaking

This thesis is protected by copyright, with all rights reserved.

By reading and using the thesis, the reader understands and agrees to the following terms:

- 1. The reader will abide by the rules and legal ordinances governing copyright regarding the use of the thesis.
- 2. The reader will use the thesis for the purpose of research or private study only and not for distribution or further reproduction or any other purpose.
- 3. The reader agrees to indemnify and hold the University harmless from and against any loss, damage, cost, liability or expenses arising from copyright infringement or unauthorized usage.

IMPORTANT

If you have reasons to believe that any materials in this thesis are deemed not suitable to be distributed in this form, or a copyright owner having difficulty with the material being included in our database, please contact lbsys@polyu.edu.hk providing details. The Library will look into your claim and consider taking remedial action upon receipt of the written requests.

Pao Yue-kong Library, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

http://www.lib.polyu.edu.hk

THE HONG KONG POLYTECHNIC UNIVERSITY

Department of Applied Biology and Chemical Technology

Development of Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry for Direct Analysis of Complex Samples and an Investigation of Ionization Mechanism of Matrix-assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization Mass Spectrometry

Wang Haixing

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

August 2013

Certificate of Originality

CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINALITY

I declare that this thesis is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it reproduces no material previously published or written, nor material that has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma. except where due acknowledgement has been made in the text.

Wang Haixing

August 2013

Abstract

Mass spectrometry (MS) is a powerful tool for analysis of various samples. Conventional mass spectrometric analysis, however, typically requires extensive pretreatment to raw samples. In recent years, ambient ionization techniques have been developed to enable direct analysis of complex samples with little or no sample preparation. Following our previous research on direct ionization analysis of tissue samples, in this study, pipette-tip electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (ESI-MS) was developed for direct analysis of another common sample form, herbal powder. This new technique combines commonly available and disposable pipette tip with a syringe pump for on-line sample extraction and ionization. We demonstrated that various powders of herbal medicines and foods could be directly analyzed with this technique and closely related herbal species could be clearly differentiated based on the mass spectra thus obtained. This technique offered continuous and stable signals, and its capability in direct quantitation of chemical ingredients in powder samples was also demonstrated in this study. The pipette tip of this technique could be replaced with a commercially available C18 pipette tip (Zip-Tip), which contained C18 absorbent in the tip end. In this way, the technique could be used for direct analysis of raw solution samples, including detection of protein solutions containing high contents of sodium chloride or sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) and quantitation of abused drugs in urine.

The capability of MS for direct analysis of raw protein samples, particularly membrane proteins, was further explored in this study. Membrane proteins play important roles in biological processes and are targets of many drugs. MS analysis of membrane proteins has been a challenging task due to their poor solubility and that detergents commonly used to improve the solubility are not compatible with MS analysis. In this study, for the first time, extractive electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (EESI-MS) was attempted for direct analysis of membrane proteins containing high contents of detergents, and our results indicated that EESI-MS was more tolerant to nonionic detergents than ESI-MS. In this study, wooden-tip ESI-MS, a technique developed in our group, was also developed for direct quantitation of di-(2-ethylhexyl)-phthalate (DEHP), a hazard plasticizer, in beverages such as fruit juice and sports drink. We demonstrated that wooden-tip ESI-MS was a simple and economical method for rapid screening of DEHP in beverages.

Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization (MALDI) is another commonly used ionization technique in mass spectrometry. The ionization mechanism of MALDI is, however, not completely clear yet. In this study, oil-assisted sample preparation (OASP), a MALDI sample preparation method recently developed in our group, and deuteriumlabeled matrix and analyte were employed to investigate the interactions between matrix and analyte molecules. The results revealed that all active hydrogens of analyte molecules could be replaced by hydrogens from matrix. The exchange tendency of active hydrogens from different functional groups of analyte and different conformational peptides was investigated. These results allowed us to get new insights into the MALDI ionization process.

Research Publications

Conference Papers

- Wang H.X. and Yao Z.P. Development of Pipette-tip Electrospray Mass Spectrometry for Direct Analysis of Herbal Powder Samples, *HKSMS* Symposium 2013 15th Annual General Meeting, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong, 22 June 2013.
- Wang H.X. and Yao Z.P. Direct Analysis of Herbal Powders by Pipette-tip Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry, *Proceedings of the 61st ASMS Conference on Mass Spectrometry and Allied Topics*, Minneapolis, U.S.A. 9-13 June 2013.
- Wang H.X. and Yao Z.P Development of Mass Spectrometry for Direct Analysis of Herbal Powders, *The 20th Symposium on Chemistry Postgraduate Research in Hong Kong*, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, 27 April 2013.
- 4. Wang H.X. and Yao Z.P Investigation of Membrane Proteins by Extractive Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry, *The 19th Symposium on Chemistry Postgraduate Research in Hong Kong*, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Hong Kong, 14 April 2012.

Journal Publications

5. So, P.K.; Ng, T.T.; Wang, H.X.; Hu, B.; Yao, Z.P., Rapid detection and quantitation of ketamine and norketamine in urine and oral fluid by wooden-tip electrospray ionization mass spectrometry, *Analyst* **2013**, *138*, 2239-2243.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Yao Zhong-Ping for his mentoring and support in my Ph. D. study. I also especially thank him for guiding me into the world of mass spectrometry, for his outstanding and helpful guidance in the preparation of this thesis. I have benefited tremendously from his serious academic attitude and rich experience in mass spectrometry.

I would like to thank my co-supervisor Prof. Leung Yun-chung, Thomas, for his valuable guidance and suggestion in my study.

I would also like to thank my thesis examiner: Prof. Cai Zongwei and Dr. Chu Keung, Ivan. Thanks are given to all professors who taught me in The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. I would like to thank Prof. Karl Wah-keung Tsim for his help in the quantitation of ketamine and norketamine.

I would also like to express my thanks to my fellow group members: Hu Bin, Ng Tsztsun, Lai Ying-han and Dr. Zhang Shu. Special thanks are given to Dr. So Pui-kin for his kindly help throughout my research. Thanks are given to all staffs in Department of Applied Biology and Chemical Technology for their support. I would like to thank my family, in particular my wife, for their encouragement and support in my four years' study and in the preparation of this thesis.

The studentship from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University is also acknowledged.

Table of Contents

Certificate of Originality	ii
Abstract	iii
Research Publications	v
Acknowledgements	vii
Table of Contents	ix
List of Figures	xvi
List of Tables	xxiv
List of Abbreviations	XXV
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 General Introduction of Mass Spectrometry	2
1.2 Ionization Techniques	6
1.2.1 Electrospray Ionization	8
1.2.2 Matrix-assisted Laser/Desorption Ionization	11
1.2.2.1 Sample Preparation Methods	13

1.2.2.2 Ionization Mechanism of MALDI	15
1.3 New Ionization Techniques	18
1.3.1 Desorption Electrospray Ionization (DESI)	19
1.3.2 Extractive Electrospray Ionization (EESI)	20
1.3.3 Electrospray Ionization Using Wooden Tips	21
1.3.4 Direct Analysis of Tissue Samples	22
1.4 Mass Analyzer	23
1.4.1 Quadrupole Mass Analyzer	23
1.4.2 Time-of-flight Mass Analyzer	25
1.5 Tandem Mass Spectrometry (MS/MS)	26
1.5.1 Tandem Mass Spectrometry Classification	27
1.5.2 Fragmentation Methods	28
1.5.3 Modes of Tandem Mass Spectrometry	29
1.5.4 Tandem Mass Spectrometer	32
1.5.4.1 Triple Quadrupole Mass Spectrometer	32
1.5.4.2 Quadrupole Time-of-flight (Q-ToF) Mass Spectrometer	33
1.6 Outline of This Thesis	35

1.6.1 Development of New Ionization Techniques for Direct Analysis of	
Complex Sample by ESI-MS	35
1.6.2 An Investigation of MALDI Ionization Mechanism	36
Chapter 2 Direct Analysis of Herbal Powders by Pipette-tip	
Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry	37
2.1 Introduction	38
2.2 Experimental Section	39
2.2.1 Materials and Chemicals	39
2.2.2 Preparation of Samples and Standard Solutions	40
2.2.3 Instrumentation and Setup	41
2.3 Results and discussion	44
2.3.1 General Properties of Pipette-tip ESI-MS	44
2.3.2 Qualitative Analysis of Various Herbal Powders	49
2.3.3 Quantitative Analysis of Caffeine Contents in Tea Powders	60
2.4 Conclusions	62

Chapter 3 Direct Analysis of Complex Solution Samples by C-18	
Pipette-tip Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry	63
3.1 Introduction	64
3.2 Experimental Section	65
3.2.1 Materials and Chemicals	65
3.2.2 Sample Preparation	65
3.2.3 Instrumentation and Setup	67
3.3 Results and Discussion	70
3.3.1 Analysis of Protein Solutions Containing Salt or Detergent	70
3.3.2 Quantitation of Ketamine and Norketamine in Urine	74
3.4 Conclusions	83

Chapter 4 Rapid Quantitation of Di-(2-ethylhexyl))-phthalate (DEHP)
in Beverages by Electrospray Ionization Mass Spe	ctrometry Using
Wooden Tips	85
4.1 Introduction	86
4.2 Experimental Section	90
4.2.1 Materials and Chemicals	90

4.2.2 Sample Preparation	91
4.2.3 Instrumentation and Setup	91
4.3 Results and Discussion	92
4.3.1 DEHP Quantitation	92
4.3.2 Effect of The Internal Standard	99
4.3.3 Limit of Detection and Limit of Quantitation	100
4.4 Conclusions	101

Chapter 5 Investigation of Membrane Proteins by Extractive

Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry	103
5.1 Introduction	104
5.2 Experimental Section	108
5.2.1 Materials and Chemicals	108
5.2.2 Sample Preparation	108
5.2.3 Instrumentation and Setup	109
5.3 Results and discussion	110
5.3.1 Optimization of Extraction Solvent	110
5.3.2 Tolerance of EESI-MS to Different Kinds of Detergents	115

5.4 Conclusions

123

Chapter 6 An Investigation of Interactions Between Analytes and	
Matrices during the Matrix-assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization	
Process	124
6.1 Introduction	125
6.2 Experimental Section	127
6.2.1 Materials and Chemicals	127
6.2.2 Preparation of Deuterated Samples	127
6.2.3 Sample Preparation for MALDI-MS Analysis	130
6.2.4 Instrumentation	131
6.3 Results and Discussion	131
6.3.1 Hydrogen Exchange Between Matrix and Analyte in MALDI-MS	131
6.3.2 Hydrogen Exchange of Various Compounds	135
6.3.3 Effect of Peptide Structure on The Hydrogen Exchange	140
6.3.4 Indication to the MALDI ionization mechanism	143
6.4 Conclusions	144

Summary	145
References	148

List of Figures

Figure 1-1 Basic components of a mass spectrometer.	3
Figure 1-2 Some important events in the history of MS.	3
Figure 1-3 Ion formation process in ESI.	10
Figure 1-4 Schematic diagram of MALDI ionization.	11
Figure 1-5 Oil-assisted sample preparation method for MALDI-MS.	14
Figure 1-6 Schematic diagram of a typical DESI ion source.	19
Figure 1-7 Schematic diagram of the EESI ion source.	20
Figure 1-8 Schematic diagram of electrospray ionization using wooden tips.	21
Figure 1-9 Schematic diagram of direct analysis of tissue samples.	22
Figure 1-10 Schematic diagram of a quadrupole mass analyzer.	23
Figure 1-11 Schematic diagram of a ToF mass analyzer.	25
Figure 1-12 Schematic diagram of MS/MS in space.	27
Figure 1-13 Schematic diagram of MS/MS in time.	28
Figure 1-14 MS/MS scan modes.	31
Figure 1-15 Schematic diagram of a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer.	32

Figure 1-16 Schematic diagram of an API QStar Pulsar Q-ToF tandem	mass
spectrometer.	34
Figure 2-1 A schematic diagram of pipette-tip ESI-MS setup.	41
Figure 2-2 A photo of electrospray generated by pepitte-tip ESI-MS in the analys	sis of
the Rhizome coptidis powder.	42
Figure 2-3 Pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of <i>Rhizome coptidis</i> : (a). Total ion current	;; (b).
Mass spectrum obtained by accumulation of spectra between 55-60 min.	45
Figure 2-4 Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of the Rhizome cop	ptidis
powder using six individual pipette tips.	47
Figure 2-5 Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of roasted coffee b	beans:
(a) Positive ion mode; (b) Negative ion mode. (MA: Malic acid; QA: Quinic acid;	; CA:
Caffeic acid; CSA: Caffeoylshikimic acid; CQA: Caffeoylquinic acid; I	FQA:
Feruloyquinic acid; DCQA: Dicaffeoylquinic acid.)	49

Figure 2-6 (a) Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of lotus plumule; (b) MS/MS spectrum of m/z 611.3; (c) MS/MS spectrum of m/z 625.3. 51

Figure 2-7 Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of great burdock achene. 52

Figure 2-8 (a). Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of black pepper; (b). MS/MS spectrum of m/z 286.2. 53

Figure 2-9 Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of green tea: (a) Positive ion mode; (b) Negative ion mode. (MA: Malic acid; QA: Quinic acid; C:

76

Catechin; GC: Gallocatechin; CQA: 4-p-Coumaroylquinic acid; ECG: Epicatechin-3-
gallate; EGCG: Epigallocatechin-3-gallate) 54
Figure 2-10 Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of <i>Panax ginseng</i> (a),
Panax quinquefolius (b), and Panax notoginseng (c).56
Figure 2-11 Mass spectrum obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of FSC (a) and FSS
(b); (c) PCA score plot obtained based on the mass spectra of FSC and FSS. 58
Figure 2-12 Calibration curve for quantitation of caffeine in the green tea (peak area
<i>versus</i> spiked caffeine content). 60
Figure 3-1 The schematic diagram of C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS. 65
Figure 3-2 Product ion scan mass spectra obtained for 5 μ g mL ⁻¹ ketamine (a) and
norketamine (b) in methanol containing 0.1% FA (potential chemical structures of the
major product ions are labeled). 69
Figure 3-3 Spectra obtained by analysis of cytochrome c (5 μ M, 1% NaCl) with
conventional ESI-MS and C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS. 71
Figure 3-4 Spectra obtained by analysis of myoglobin (5 μ M, 1% NaCl) with
conventional ESI-MS and C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS. 72
Figure 3-5 Spectra obtained by analysis of α -lactalbumin (5 μ M, 0.1% SDS) with
conventional ESI-MS and C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS. 73
Figure 3-6 Chemical structures of ketamine and norketamine.74
Figure 3-7 The SRM chromatograms of three measurements using three individual C18

pipette tips and the same C18 pipette tip.

Figure 3-8 The SRM chromatograms for simultaneous detection of ketamine (m/z 238 > 125, 2-400 ng mL⁻¹), norketamine (m/z 224 > 125, 2-400 ng mL⁻¹) and the internal standard d₄-norketamine (m/z 228 > 129, 50 ng mL⁻¹). 78 Figure 3-9 Calibration curves for ketamine (a) and norketamine (b). 80 Figure 3-10 The SRM chromatograms of ketamine with concentrations of 0.3 ng mL⁻¹ and 0.5 ng mL⁻¹ in urine for LOD and LOQ determination respectively. 82 Figure 3-11 The SRM chromatograms of norketamine with concentration of 0.3 ng mL⁻¹ and 0.5 ng mL⁻¹ in urine for LOD and LOO determination respectively. 83 Figure 4-1 Chemical structures of DEHP and DINP. 86 89 Figure 4-2 Schematic diagram of electrospray ionization with a wooden tip. Figure 4-3 The MS/MS spectra of $[M+H]^+$ of DEHP (m/z 391) (a) and DINP (m/z 419) 93 (b). Figure 4-4 SRM chromatograms of DEHP (m/z 391 > 149) and DINP (m/z 419 > 149) obtained by wooden-tip ESI-MS analysis of the Aquarius sports beverage samples. 94

Figure 4-5 Quantitative analysis of DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage and Mr. Juicy orange juice using wooden-tip ESI-MS (with internal standard). (a) Standard calibration curve for DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage. (b) Accuracy and precision (n=6 replicates at 9 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹ and 150 μ g mL⁻¹) for DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage. (c) Standard calibration curve for DEHP in Mr. Juicy orange juice. (d) Accuracy and precision (n=6 replicates at 9 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹) for DEHP in Mr. Juicy orange juice. (d) Accuracy and precision (n=6 replicates at 9 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹ and 150 μ g mL⁻¹ and 150 μ g mL⁻¹) for DEHP in Mr. Juicy orange juice. (d) Accuracy and precision (n=6 replicates at 9 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹ and 150 μ g mL⁻¹) for DEHP in Mr. Juicy orange juice. (d) Accuracy and precision (n=6 replicates at 9 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹ and 150 μ g mL⁻¹) for DEHP in Mr.

Figure 4-6 Quantitative analysis of DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage and Mr. Juicy orange juice using wooden-tip ESI-MS without internal standard). (a) Standard calibration curve for DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage. (b) Standard calibration curve for DEHP in Mr. Juicy orange juice. 98

Figure 4-7 SRM chromatograms for the LOD and LOQ determination of the sports beverage and fruit beverage. 101

Figure 5-1 Schematic diagram of EESI-MS. 105

Figure 5-2 Photo of the lab-made EESI ion source installed on a Q-TOF mass spectrometer (sprayer A is the solvent spray connected a high voltage and sprayer B is the neutral spray of sample solution). 107

Figure 5-3 Photo of the optimized alignment of the EESI ion source for direct analysis of α -lactalbumin with detergents (the angle between sprayer A and sprayer B was 60°, the distance between the tips of two sprayers was 40 mm and the distance between the tips of sprayer A to MS inlet was 2 cm).

Figure 5-4 EESI-MS spectra of α -lactalbumin (5.0 μ M in MeOH/H₂O/FA, 50/50/0.1, v/v/v) in the presence of 0.2 mM DDM obtained with various solvents (each containing 1% FA) as the extraction solvents. 111, 112

Figure 5-5 Spectra obtained by EESI-MS analysis of α -lactalbumin solution (5.0 μ M in MeOH/H₂O/FA, 50/50/0.1, v/v/v) containing 0.2 mM DDM using methanol with different portions of water as the extraction solvents (each containing 1% FA). 114

Figure 5-6 Mass spectra of 5.0 μ M α -lactalbumin solution in the presence of different concentrations of DDM (0.2, 2, 20 and 50 mM) obtained by EESI-MS and ESI-MS. 117

Figure 5-7 Mass spectra of 5.0 μM $\alpha\text{-lactalbumin}$ in the presence of different
concentrations of OG (2.5, 12.5, 25 and 50 mM) obtained by EESI-MS and ESI-MS.118
Figure 5-8 Mass spectra of 5.0 μM $\alpha\text{-lactalbumin}$ in the presence of 10 mM Triton X-
100 obtained by EESI-MS and ESI-MS. 119
Figure 5-9 Mass spectra of 5.0 μ M α -lactalbumin in the presence of 10 mM tween-20
obtained by EESI-MS and ESI-MS. 120
Figure 5-10 Mass spectra of 5 μM $\alpha\text{-lactalbumin}$ in the presence of 1.0 mM SDS
obtained by EESI-MS and ESI-MS. 121
Figure 5-11 Mass spectra of 5 μM $\alpha\text{-lactalbumin}$ in the presence of 1.0 mM CHAPS
obtained by EESI-MS and ESI-MS.122
Figure 6-1 The chemical structure of CHCA-tert-butylester-d ₉ and its MALDI-MS
spectrum. 126
Figure 6-2 Schematic diagram for determination of the D value. 128
Figure 6-3 OASP-MALDI mass spectra of CHCA with different exchange times. 129
Figure 6-4 MALDI-MS mass spectrum of undeuterated melamine and ESI-MS spectrum
of deuterated melamine. 130
Figure 6-5 OASP-MALDI-MS spectra of melamine with undeuterated CHCA and
deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively. 132
Figure 6-6 OASP-MALDI-MS spectra of melamine and deuterated melamine with
undeuterated CHCA as the matrix. 133

Figure 6-7 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of betaine obtained with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively. 134

Figure 6-8 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of N,N-dimethylglycine obtained with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively. 137

Figure 6-9 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of (+)-diethyl L-tartrate with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively. 137

Figure 6-10 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of sinapic acid with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively. 138

Figure 6-11 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of Ac-Ala-OMe with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively. 138

Figure 6-12 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of Ac-Leu-OMe with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively. 139

Figure 6-13 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of ketamine with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively. 139

Figure 6-14 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of H-Ala-OMe with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively. 140

Figure 6-15 OASP-MALDI-MS spectra of Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly with CHCA and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively. 142

Figure 6-16 OASP-MALDI-MS spectra of H-His-Leu-Leu-Val-Phe-OMe with CHCA and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively. 142

Figure 6-17 OASP-MALDI-MS spectra of gramicidin A with CHCA and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively. 143

List of Tables

Table1-1 Common ionization techniques for MS.	7
Table 1-2 Commonly used MALDI matrices.	12
Table 2-1 Caffeine contents (w/w, %) in five tea samples determined by pipett	te-tip ESI-
MS/MS and UPLC-ESI-MS/MS.	61
Table 3-1 RSD for each sample in quantitation of ketamine and norketamine.	79
Table 3-2 Precision and accuracy for quantitation of ketamine and norketamine	ne in urine
with C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS.	81
Table 4-1 Experimental data for determination of accuracy and precision of the	e wooden-
tip ESI-MS in quantitation of DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage and Mr. Jui	cy orange
juice (using DINP as the internal standard).	97
Table 4-2 Experimental data for determination of accuracy and precision of the	e wooden-
tip ESI-MS in quantitation of DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage and Mr. Jui	cy orange
juice (without internal standard).	100
Table 6-1 D and DR values of various compounds obtained using OASP-M.	ALDI-MS
and deuterated CHCA as the matrix.	135

List of Abbreviations

Full Form	Abbreviation
atmospheric pressure chemical ionization	APCI
6-aza-2-thiothymine	6-ATT
chemical ionization	CI
3-[(3-cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate	CHAPS
collision-activated dissociation	CAD
collision-induced dissociation	CID
α-cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid	CHCA
daltons	Da
desorption atmospheric pressure chemical ionization	DAPCI
desorption electrospray ionization	DESI
deuteration ratio	DR
di-(2-ethylhexyl)-phthalate	DEHP
2,5-dihydroxy benzoic acid	DHB
3,5-dimethoxy-4-hydroxycinnamic acid	SA

dissononyl phthalate	DINP
direct analysis in real time	DART
<i>n</i> -dodecyl β-D-maltoside	DDM
electron capture dissociation	ECD
electron ionization	EI
electron transfer dissociation	ETD
electrospray-assisted laser desorption/ionization	ELDI
electrospray ionization	ESI
extractive electrospray ionization	EESI
fast atom bombardment	FAB
formic acid	FA
Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance	FTICR
Fructus Schisandrae Chinensis	FSC
Fructus Schisandrae Sphenantherae	FSS
gas chromatograpy	GC
high performance liquid chromatography	HPLC
hydrogen/deuterium exchange	HDX

3-hydroxy-picolinic acid	3-НРА
internal standard	IS
laser ablation electrospray ionization	LAESI
laser desorption/ionization	LDI
limit of detection	LOD
limit of quantitation	LOQ
mass spectrometry	MS
matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization	MALDI
methanol	MeOH
multichannel plate	МСР
multiple reaction monitoring	MRM
number of deuterons incorporated	D
n-octyl-β-D-glucoside	OG
oil-assisted sample preparation	OASP
pipette tip-based micro-extraction	TBME
plasma desorption	PD
principal component analysis	PCA

quadrupole	Q
relative standard deviation	RSD
secondary ion mass spectrometry	SIMS
selected reaction monitoring	SRM
signal-to-noise ratio	S/N
sodium dodecyl sulfate	SDS
tandem mass spectrometry	MS/MS
thin layer chromatograph	TLC
time-of-flight	ToF
total ion current	TIC
traditional Chinese medicine	TCM
trifluoroacetic acid	TFA
triple quadrupoles	QqQ
ultra performance liquid chromatography	UPLC

Chapter 1

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 General Introduction of Mass Spectrometry

Mass spectrometry (MS) is a technique based on generation of positively or negatively charged ions in gas-phase and measurement of the mass-to-charge ratios (m/z) of the generated ions in electrical or magnetic field. A mass spectrometer mainly consists of three elements: ion source, mass analyzer and detector (Figure 1-1). Ion source is the component where analytes are ionized and converted into positive or negative ions in the gas-phase. A wide variety of ionization techniques have been invented and applied in mass spectrometry (Table 1-1).^{1, 3} These ionization techniques include electrospray ionization (ESI), matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization (MALDI), electron ionization (EI) and atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI), chemical ionization (CI) and fast atom bombardment (FAB), among which ESI, MALDI, EI and APCI are currently the most popular ionization techniques used in mass spectrometry. Ambient ionization techniques have been developed in recent years,⁴⁻⁶ and corresponding ion sources such as direct analysis in real time (DART),⁷ desorption electrospray ionization (DESI)⁸ and laser ablation electrospray ionization (LAESI)⁹ are commercially available and widely used. Mass analyzer is the component where the charged ions are sorted and measured by their m/z values. Commonly used mass analyzers include time-of-flight (ToF), quadrupole and ion trap. Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance (FTICR) and orbitrap, two ultra high resolution mass analyzers, are becoming more and more popular due to their high mass accuracy for qualitative analysis. Detector, such as multichannel plate (MCP), is to detect the arrival of the charged ions and measure their intensities. The detected signals are finally converted into a mass spectrum, in which the x-axis represents m/z values of the detected ions and the y-axis represents the abundance or intensity of the detected ions.

2



Figure 1-1 Basic components of a mass spectrometer.



Figure 1-2 Some important events in the history of MS.

MS has a long history of more than a century. The history of MS rooted in the end of nineteenth century (Figure 1-2). In1886, German physicist Eugen Goldstein discovered a new type of radiation, "*Kanalstrahle*", and assumed this ray to be positively charged particles.^{2, 10}

In 1898, physicist Wilhelm Wien showed that positive ions could be deflected by strong electric and magnetic fields, and it was also considered that there should be a fixed relationship between charge-to-mass ratios (m/z) and parabolic curves.^{2, 10}

Inspired by Goldstein's and Wien's research, another physicist Joseph John Thomson of the University of Cambridge constructed the first mass spectrometer in the world and produced the first mass spectrum in 1913. At that time, he predicted that this technique could be a powerful analytical tool in the future.¹¹

In 1942, MS was employed as a critical tool for stable isotope analysis.¹² The first commercial mass spectrometer for analysis of organic compounds was manufactured to satisfy the development of the oil industry in the 1940s.^{2, 10} After the invention of gas chromatography (GC) in 1952,¹³ Holmes and Morrell combined it with MS, i.e., GC-MS, in 1957.¹⁴

Mass spectrometers in the early stage were only equipped with EI ion sources, which used 70 eV electrons for ionization of compounds. For many compounds, their spectra were predominated with fragment ions with the absence of molecular ions under such a harsh condition. To overcome this problem, CI was invented in 1966.¹⁵ It used softer ionization conditions to allow the observation of molecular ions. However, both EI and CI require thermal vaporization of analytes and thus are only suitable for analysis of volatile, thermally stable small molecules, and not applicable for thermally unstable, nonvolatile compounds.

Plasma desorption (PD), invented in 1974,¹⁶ is another kind of "soft" ionization technique that allows observation of molecular ions of analytes. The applicable mass range of this technique has been enormously improved and biomolecules up to 100,000 Da could be ionized. Soft ionization techniques FAB,^{17, 18} ESI^{19, 20} and MALDI^{21, 22} were introduced in the 1980s. ESI and MALDI were considered as revolutionary techniques in MS and made analysis of large biological molecules (proteins, nucleic acids and large complexes) by MS not just possible but also easy. This was a significant step in the development of mass spectrometry. John B. Fenn and Koichi Tanaka were thus awarded the Nobel Prize in Chemistry in 2002 for their outstanding contributions to the development of ESI-MS and laser desorption/ionization-MS (LDI-MS) for "identification and structure analyses of biological macromolecules" (quoted from the official web site of the Noble prize), respectively.

As a powerful tool in analytical chemistry, MS is applied for qualitative and quantitative analysis of a wide variety of chemical and biological samples, such as proteins, nucleic acids and even viruses and bacteria. MS can be used for determination of elemental compositions of compounds using exact mass measurements, structural elucidation of compounds using tandem MS, identification of unknown compounds, and quantitative measurements of components in mixtures.^{2, 6}

1.2 Ionization Techniques

The development of ionization techniques expands the applications of MS from atomic mass measurement to analysis of complex biological mixtures. By now, various ionization technique have been developed in the history of MS.³ The common ionization techniques for MS are listed in Table 1-1.

Ionization technique	Applicable analytes	Mass range	Technology
			description
Electron inization	Volatile and	Less than 1000 Da	Fragment ions
(EI)	thermally stable		mainly, hard
	compounds		ionization method
Chemical ionization	Volatile and	Less than 1000 Da	Molecular ion
(CI)	thermally stable		available, soft
	compounds		ionization method
Atmospheric	Nonpolar to polar	Less than 1000 Da	Molecular ion and
pressure chemical	compounds,		fragment ions, less
ionization (APCI)	thermally stable		soft ioniztion method
Fast atom	Polar compounds	200-2000 Da	Matrix required, soft
bombardment (FAB)		(optimal range)	ionization method
Electrospray	Polar compounds	From very low mass	Singly charged or
ionization (ESI)		to extrordinarily high	multiply charged
		mass	ions, soft ioniztion
			method
Matrix-asissted laer	Polar compounds	From very low mass	Singly chareged ions,
desoprtion/ionization		to extrordinarily high	matrix required,soft
(MALDI)		mass (up to 500,000	ioniztion method
		Da)	

Table 1-1 Common ionization techniques for MS.¹
1.2.1 Electrospray Ionization

Generally, the origin of ESI was considered to start from the discovery of electrospray ionization of a polymer in gas-phase by Dole and his coworkers in 1968.²³ However, this ionization technique was not used in mass spectrometer at that time. The first combination of ESI to a mass spectrometer happened in 1984 by John B. Fen and his coworkers.^{19, 20} They successfully coupled an ESI ion source to a quadrupole mass spectrometer and detected ions in both positive and negative modes. ESI-MS could be applied for the analysis of nonvolatile organic or inorganic compounds, as well as biological complexes. The predominant ions of this ionization technique are singly or multiply charged molecular ions.

The ion formation of ESI is a physical process.²⁴ The pathway for the formation of ions in ESI is shown in Figure 1-3. First, a sample is dissolved in a solvent. Methanol, acetonitrile and their mixtures with water are commonly used solvents in ESI. Then, the sample solution is infused into a capillary.

Second, when a high voltage (typically 3-5 kV) is applied to the capillary, a Taylor cone and cone-jet are formed from the tip of the capillary. The term "Taylor cone" was first described by Sir Geoffrey Taylor in 1964.²⁵ When a voltage is applied to an electrically conductive solvent, the shape of the solvent would change from the common shape induced by surface tension. Along with the increment of the voltage, the solvent droplet

would become elongated and a Taylor cone is formed. When a threshold voltage is reached, a liquid cone-jet is generated at the tip of the Taylor cone.

Third, a plume composed of highly charged droplets is formed following the formation of the cone-jet. With the assistance of a desolvation gas (e.g. nitrogen) usually, the solvent is vaporized and the size of the droplets is further reduced. Along with the evaporation of the solvent, the charge densities on the surface of the droplets become higher and higher. When repulsive forces between the charges on the droplet surfaces reach the limit, coulomb explosions occur, which split one charged droplet into several small charged droplets.

Finally, successive evaporation of droplet solvents and fission of droplets lead to formation of analyte ions in the gas phase. There are two models to explain this process: the ion evaporation model and the charge residual model. In the ion evaporation model, further solvent evaporation results in high repulsive forces of charges on the droplet surfaces again. When these repulsive forces outstrip the surface tension of the droplets, analyte ions would be desorbed into the gas phase one by one.^{26, 27} This model is applicable to explain the formation of analytes ions with relatively low masses. The charge residue model is considered to favor ions with relatively high masses.²⁸ According to this model, successive solvent evaporation eventually leads to remaining of one or no analyte ion.



Figure 1-3 Ion formation process in ESI.

1.2.2 Matrix-assisted Laser/Desorption Ionization



Figure 1-4 Schematic diagram of MALDI ionization.

MALDI is another powerful MS ionization technique, and is widely utilized together with ESI in proteomic research.^{29, 30} It can also be applied for the analysis of many other compounds, such as nucleic acids³¹ and lipids.³² MALDI can be utilized for tissue imaging (MALDI imaging), which is an active field in recent years.³³

MALDI-MS typically requires mixing sample with a matrix. Matrix is important for MALDI ionization; it can absorb laser energy and assist desorption and ionization of analytes as shown in Figure 1-4. There is no single MALDI matrix or sample

preparation method suitable for analysis of all analytes. Some **c**ommonly used MALDI matrices are listed in Table 1-2.

Matrix	Abbreviation	Structure	Major
			applications
α-cyano-4- hydroxycinnamic acid	CHCA	HO COOH	peptides, proteins
2,5-dihydroxy benzoic acid	DHB	но	proteins, peptides, carbohydrates, syntheic polymers
3,5-dimethoxy-4- hydroxycinnamic acid	SA	H ₃ CO OCH ₃	proteins, peptides
3-hydroxy- picolinic acid	3-HPA	ОН	Best for nucleic acids
6-aza-2- thiothymine	6-ATT	HS N N CH ₃	proteins, peptides, non-covalent complexes

 Table 1-2 Commonly used MALDI matrices.34

1.2.2.1 Sample Preparation Methods

Sample preparation in MALDI is to mix matrix and analyte together on MALDI plate for subsequent analysis. It is important for getting ideal MALDI-MS spectra. There are many kinds of sample preparation methods and some of them are introduced below.

Dried-droplet (DD) method

This is the most commonly used MALDI sample preparation method. Generally, the sample solution is mixed with a matrix solution, then $\sim 1 \mu l$ of the mixture solution is deposited onto a plate well with a pipette and air dried. Co-crystals will be formed between matrix and analyte molecules and they are important for good signals of the analytes. This method is suitable for analysis of a wide variety of samples and its operation is easy. The major disadvantages of this method are the inhomogeneity of the crystals and the appearance of "sweet spots". A "sweet spot" is a spot that gives better signals of the analyte.

Double-layer method

In the double-layer method, matrix solution is first deposited onto the plate well to form a thin layer of matrix crystals. Then a droplet of analyte solution is deposited onto the matrix thin layer. The preformed matrix crystals serve as crystallization nuclei for the analyte molecules and allow the formation of more homogenous crystals on the surface of the plate.

Solvent-free method

The solvent-free MALDI sample preparation method was developed in 2001 and has been applied in analysis of various samples including polymers and biological samples.^{35, 36} In solvent-free sample preparation, matrix powder and sample powder are directly mixed together without the application of solvents, and deposited on the plate for MALDI-MS analysis. Compared with the conventional solvent-based MALDI-MS, this technique could offer better sensitivity and resolution for analysis of polymers.

Oil-assisted sample preparation (OASP) method



Figure 1-5 Oil-assisted sample preparation method for MALDI-MS.³⁷

The oil-assisted sample preparation (OASP) method was developed in our group in 2011.³⁷ In this method, paraffin oil is used as a medium for the mixing of solid analyte and matrix on a MALDI plate as shown in Figure 1-5. This method simplifies the procedure for solvent-free sample preparation. Many kinds of samples, including poorly

soluble organic compounds and membrane peptides, polymers and solid biological samples, have been successfully analyzed with this method. In this thesis, this method was employed for the investigation of MALDI ionization mechanism, which will be described in Chapter 6.

1.2.2.2 Ionization Mechanism of MALDI

Although MALDI-MS has been developed for more than two decades, the ionization mechanism of MALDI is still poorly understood. In the process of MALDI ionization, there are a great variety of experimental conditions, such as laser wavelength, laser energy, sample preparation method, matrix and analyte property, that could affect the ionization process, and various models have been developed to explain the MALDI ionization mechanism.³⁸⁻⁴³ Two popular models for MALDI ionization, the gas-phase protonation model and the cluster ionization model are briefly introduced below.

Gas-phase protonation model

The gas-phase protonation model is so far the most widely accepted model for the MALDI mechanism.⁴⁴ In this model, photochemical ionization of matrix molecule is the primary step for the subsequent gas phase proton transfer ionization.⁴⁵ Matrix molecule absorbs energy from laser in the form of photon and is ionized as shown below:

$$M \xrightarrow{m(hv)} M^{+} + e^{-}$$
(1-1)

This step is considered to happen on the surface of the sample and matrix crystals. The process for energy absorption of matrix from laser involves multiphoton absorption or energy pooling.⁴⁴

The second step is considered to happen in the gas phase. The resulting M^{+} and e^{-} react with other matrix molecules and yield MH^{+} and $(M-H)^{-}$ as shown in Eqs. 1-2 and 1-3 respectively.⁴⁴

$$M^{+} + M \rightarrow MH^{+} + (M - H)^{-}$$
 (1-2)

$$e^{-} + M \rightarrow (M - H)^{-} + H^{-}$$
 (1-3)

Then photon transfer reactions occur between protonated or deprotonated matrix ion and analyte molecule due to the difference between their gas phase proton affinities (PA) (Eqs. 1-4 and 1-5), leading to formation of protonated analyte molecule AH^+ or deprotonated analyte molecule $(A-H)^+$.

$$MH^+ + A \to M + AH^+ \tag{1-4}$$

$$[M - H]^{-} + A \to M + (A - H)^{-}$$
(1-5)

Cluster ionization model

The cluster ionization model is another popular model for MALDI ion formation; it was first postulated by Michael Karas *et al.* in 2000⁴⁶ and further refined in 2003.³⁹ In this model, analyte molecules are assumed to be pre-charged in the solution and existed as

neutral clusters $[AH_n^{n+}+nX^-]$ with their counterions X⁻. These clusters are preserved and incorporated into the matrix molecules after co-crystallization with the matrix. During the MALDI process, these clusters, together with the matrix molecules, are ablated from the crystal surface by laser irradiation and released into the gas phase in a plume. In this plume, the singly charged positive matrix ion MH⁺ goes through a counterion neutralization process and the singly charged negative matrix ion (M-H)⁻ goes through a analyte deprotonated process, leading to formation of the corresponding analyte ions. The neutralization probability of counterion could significantly increase with the increasing of charge state. So the singly charged ions, which have a sufficiently low neutralization probability, have a chance to survive in a possibly highly efficient ionization process. Due to this reason, this model was thus named as a lucky survivor model in the beginning.⁴⁶ The formation of positively charged analyte ion could be described as follows:

$$AH_n^{n+} + nX^- + MH^+ \rightarrow AH^+ + nHX$$
(1-6)

Comparison between gas-phase protonation model and cluster ionization model

The gas-phase protonation model assumes there are neutral analyte molecules in the crystal mixture with matrix, photoionization of the matrix molecules is the first step and charge transfer (protonation/deprotonation) to analyte molecule in gas-phase is the second step. The cluster ionization model assumes analyte molecules are precharged in crystals and the subsequent neutralization with matrix ions leads to the obtained analyte ions. So the major difference between the two models is the origin of the proton added to

analyte molecule. In the gas phase protonation model, neutral analyte molecules are charged by proton transferred from matrix ion in the gas phase; while in the cluster ionization model, it is pre-multiple charged in the solution phase and the singly charged analyte ions survive the process of neutralization.

1.3 New Ionization Techniques

In the past decades, a great variety of new ionization techniques have been developed for direct analysis of complex samples under ambient condition with no or minimal sample preparation.^{4, 5, 47-49} The first well-recognized ambient ionization technique, desorption electrospray ionization (DESI) MS, was introduced by Cooks' group in 2004.⁸ A lot of the new ionization techniques, including direct analysis in real time (DART),⁷ thin layer chromatograph (TLC) ionization,⁵⁰ extractive electrospray ionization (EESI),⁵¹ paper spray ionization,^{52, 53}, probe electrospray ionization,⁵⁴ direct electrospray ionization on a tip column,⁵⁵ direct analysis of tissue samples,⁵⁶⁻⁵⁹ and electrospray ionization using wooden tips,⁶⁰ have been developed recently. Herein, several ionization techniques related to the study in this thesis are briefly introduced.

1.3.1 Desorption Electrospray Ionization (DESI)



Figure 1-6 Schematic diagram of a typical DESI ion source.⁸

The invention of DESI in 2004 is a revolutionary initiation of ambient MS.⁸ As a significant technique in the development of MS, the applications of this novel ionization technique could be summarized as small and large molecules analyses, *in situ* analysis, high-throughput analysis and tissue imaging.⁶¹⁻⁶³ As shown in Figure 1-6, charged droplets of solvents from an ESI sprayer are directed towards a surface. Analyte molecules on the surface are desorbed and ionized by the charged droplets, and then introduced into the mass spectrometer for analysis. Various compounds can be detected by DESI-MS, and the obtained mass spectra are very similar with those obtained by conventional ESI-MS.

1.3.2 Extractive Electrospray Ionization (EESI)



Figure 1-7 Schematic diagram of the EESI ion source.⁶⁴

EESI is a technique based on liquid-liquid extraction between two colliding plumes (Figure 1-7).^{51, 64, 65} The colliding plumes come from two separate sprayers, one for nebulizing sample solution and the other for generating charged droplets of solvents. With the interaction of the two plumes, the target analyte molecules are expected to be extracted from the sample solution and ionized by the charged droplets of solvents. This technique has been applied for direct analysis of undiluted urine, milk, native proteins samples and some other complex mixtures.^{51, 64, 65} In this thesis, EESI was employed to directly analyze membrane proteins in the presence of detergents. More details about EESI could be found in Chapter 5.

1.3.3 Electrospray Ionization Using Wooden Tips



Figure 1-8 Schematic diagram of electrospray ionization using wooden tips.⁶⁰

Electrospray ionization on wooden tips is a novel ionization technique developed by our group.⁶⁰ As shown in Figure 1-8, a wooden toothpick, which was very readily available, cheap, and directly compatible with nano-electrospray ion source, was utilized as an electrospray emitter. A high voltage was applied to the wooden toothpick to induce an electrospray for ionization. Sample solution could be directly loaded at the sharp end of the wooden toothpick, which was hydrophilic and porous and could hold the sample solution for electrospray ionization analysis. A variety of samples, including small molecule samples, digested peptides, raw biological liquid samples, powder samples and proteins, were successfully analyzed using this technique. In this thesis, the application of this technique in direct quantitation of raw samples was demonstrated in Chapter 4.

1.3.4 Direct Analysis of Tissue Samples



Figure 1-9 Schematic diagram of direct analysis of tissue samples.

Techniques for direct mass spectrometric analysis of biological tissue, including plant tissue^{56, 59} and animal tissue,^{57, 58} have been developed by our group and other groups in recent years. These techniques have similar setups. As shown in Figure 1-9, a high voltage was directly applied to the tissue sample to induce electrospray ionization at an artificial tip, which was detected by a mass spectrometer. A sharp end, i.e., an artificial or natural tip, is essential for inducing spray ionization in this technique, and only a small piece of tissue is required for analysis.

1.4 Mass Analyzer

Mass analyzer is the main body of a mass spectrometer in which ions are sorted according to their mass-to-charge values. The separation of ions could be achieved in electrical or magnetic field.¹ Commonly used mass analyzers include quadrupole, ToF, ion trap and FTICR. Quadrupole and ToF mass analyzers were employed in the studies of this thesis, and their principles would be briefly introduced.

1.4.1 Quadrupole Mass Analyzer



Figure 1-10 Schematic diagram of a quadrupole mass analyzer.

The quadrupole mass analyzer is also called quadrupole mass filter. It consists of four parallel electrical rods. All four rods are connected to direct current (DC) potential and radio frequency (RF) potential (as shown in Figure 1-10).¹ Taking a positively charged ion as an example, after generation in the ion source, it is transferred to the quadrupole

mass analyzer and moved toward the negative rod. Before this positive ion strikes the negative rod, the polarity of the rod is changed to positive due to changes of DC and RF. In this situation, the ion moves forward in the form of oscillation and only "right" ions with a specific m/z range can pass through the quadrupole mass analyzer and reach the detector. The "wrong" ions out of the specific m/z range collide with the rods in the process of advancing. Eventually, all the ions would be scanned and transmitted to the detector successively with the ramping of DC and RF.

The advantages of the quadrupole mass analyzer include its low cost, easy operation, lower demand for vacuum, and stable signals. However, the major disadvantage of this mass analyzer is its upper limitation of mass range (< 4000 Da). The quadrupole mass analyzer is usually combined with other mass analyzers (including other quadruple mass analyzers) for tandem MS analysis. Triple quadrupole mass spectrometer is widely used for quantitative analysis of target compounds.

1.4.2 Time-of-flight Mass Analyzer



Figure 1-11 Schematic diagram of a ToF mass analyzer.

As shown in Figure 1-11, the principle of a ToF mass analyzer is relatively simple. Ions from the ion source are accelerated with the assistance of an electric filed and directed into a flight tube. Ions with different m/z values take different durations to fly through the flight tube to reach the detector. This process can be expressed by the following equation:⁶⁶

$$m/z = t_f^2 2Es/(2s+x)$$
(1-7)

where t_f^2 represents the flight time, E represents the applied voltage, s is the length of ion acceleration region, and x is the length of flight tube. This equation can be further simplified to

$$m/z = Kt_f^2 \tag{1-8}$$

where K represents a calibration factor. This equation could clearly illustrate the relationship between m/z and the flight time.

The ToF mass analyzer has better resolution than the quadrupole mass analyzer and its m/z range is in principle unlimited. However, to satisfy the requirements for free flight of ions in a flight tube, a higher vacuum condition is required. The size of a ToF mass spectrometer is also relatively large. ToF mass spectrometers are more commonly applied for qualitative analysis of samples.^{1, 2}

1.5 Tandem Mass Spectrometry (MS/MS)

Tandem mass spectrometry, sometimes called MS/MS, was first described by Fred W. McLafferty in 1981 and is a very useful technique in MS.⁶⁷ It is a multiple-stage MS involving fragmentation for analysis of some specific analytes in mixtures. In MS/MS, specific analyte ion is selected by the first mass analyzer, and fragmentation information is obtained in the final mass analyzer after dissociation. This technique has higher sensitivity for analysis of specific compounds. The MS/MS spectra contain structural information of the analytes, and can be used for both qualitative and quantitative

analysis. Currently, MS/MS is widely applied in proteomics, e.g., peptide sequencing for protein identification.^{29, 68, 69}

1.5.1 Tandem Mass Spectrometry Classification

Multiple-stage MS/MS can be performed in space or in time. In space, several mass analyzers are connected in series to achieve precursor ion selection, dissociation and subsequent mass measuring of fragment ions (Figure 1-12).⁷⁰⁻⁷² The quadrupole and ToF analyzers are the most widely used mass analyzers in MS/MS in space. The triple quadrupoles (QqQ) and quadrupole ToF (QToF) analyzers are commonly used tandem mass spectrometers.



Figure 1-12 Schematic diagram of MS/MS in space.

MS/MS in time means only one space or mass analyzer is employed and the trapped ions are selected and then fragmented successively in the same space (Figure 1-13).⁷³ Ion trap and FTICR are the common mass analyzers for MS/MS in time. The major advantage of MS/MS in time is that it can perform MSⁿ analysis. This technique is very useful for structural elucidation.



Figure 1-13 Schematic diagram of MS/MS in time.

1.5.2 Fragmentation Methods

Collision-induced dissociation (CID), also called collision-activated dissociation (CAD), is the most popular fragmentation technique.^{74, 75} In the process of CID, precursor ions are directed to collide with a neutral gas (e.g. helium or argon) in the collision cell. This collision results in subsequent dissociation of precursor ions due to energy transfer in this process. This process can be described as follows:

$$ABH^{+} \xrightarrow{Collision \ gas} AH^{+} + B \ or \ A + BH^{+}$$
(1-9)

where A and B represent two components of the analyte, and H represents proton. Analyte ion ABH^+ collides with collision gas and leads to the fragmentation. According to the energy used for the fragmentation, CID can be divided into low energy (< 100 eV) and high energy CID (> 100 eV).¹ Low energy CID is the commonly used one in QqQ and Q-ToF tandem mass spectrometers. High energy CID can be achieved by some mass spectrometers with high accelerating potentials. It was reported that charge-driven dissociation was predominant in low energy CID. High energy CID can produce additional ions induced by multiple cleavage, complex charge-driven rearrangement and charge-remote fragmentation.⁷⁶

Apart from CID, there are some other fragmentation methods, e.g., electron capture dissociation (ECD)⁷⁷ and electron transfer dissociation (ETD).⁷⁸⁻⁸⁰ Both ECD and ETD are primarily applied in FTICR mass spectrometers for proteomic analysis.^{81, 82} The process of ECD can be represented by the following equation:^{83, 84}

$$[A + nH]^{n+} + e^{-} \rightarrow [[A + nH]^{(n-1)+}]^{\cdot} \rightarrow Fragments$$
(1-10)

A multiply charged cation $[A + nH]^{n+}$ interacts with a free electron e^- to become an odd-electron ion, which is dissociated to form fragment ions. Similar to ECD, ETD induces fragmentation of a cation by transferring an electron to the cation. But in ETD, the electron comes from an anion X^- . ETD can be represented by the following equation:⁸⁵

$$[A+nH]^{n+} + X^{-} \rightarrow [[A+nH]^{(n-1)+}]^{\cdot} + X \rightarrow Fragments \qquad (1-11)$$

Both ECD and ETD are very useful fragmentation techniques for peptide sequencing and top-down protein identification in proteomic research.

1.5.3 Modes of Tandem Mass Spectrometry

Currently, there are four common MS/MS modes: product ion scan, precursor ion scan, neutral loss scan and selected reaction monitoring (SRM, also known as multiple

reaction monitoring, MRM). These MS/MS modes, except for product ion scan, normally can only be performed in triple quadrupoles mass spectrometers.⁸⁶ The schematic diagrams and the symbols⁸⁷ for these common MS/MS modes are shown in Figure 1-14.

Product ion scan

Specific precursor ions are selected in the first mass analyzer, and after fragmentation in the second stage, fragment ions are scanned and detected in the final mass analyzer. This technique is for detecting the product ions produced from selected precursor ions and is very useful for structural elucidation and identification of compounds.

Precursor ion scan

Precursor ions are scanned in the first mass analyzer, and after fragmentation in the collision cell, only selected product ions are detected in the final mass analyzer. This scan mode is for detecting precursor ions that can produce the selected product ions.

Neutral loss scan

All the precursor ions are scanned in the first mass analyzer, and after fragmentation in the second stage, only ions corresponding to a neutral loss of the precursor ions are detected in the final mass analyzer. This scan mode is employed to detect a class of compounds that can have the same neutral loss.

Selected reaction monitoring

Specific precursor ions are selected in the first mass analyzer, and after fragmentation in the second stage, only specific fragment ions are detected in the final mass analyzer. This method is very specific and sensitive for quantitation of target analytes in a mixture.



Figure 1-14 MS/MS scan modes.⁸⁶

1.5.4 Tandem Mass Spectrometer

1.5.4.1 Triple Quadrupole Mass Spectrometer

Triple quadrupole mass spectrometer is a commonly used tandem mass spectrometer. The first triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (abbreviated as QqQ) was introduced in 1978.⁸⁸ As mentioned previously, triple quadrupole mass spectrometer is normally used for qualitative analysis with product ion scan mode and for quantitative analysis with SRM mode.⁸⁶ In this thesis, a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (Quattro Ultima, Waters) was employed for quantitation analysis. The schematic diagram of such a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer is shown in Figure 1-15.



Figure 1-15 Schematic diagram of a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer.⁸⁹

In the SRM mode for quantitation with this triple quadrupole mass spectrometer, sample is ionized at the ion source part (conventional ESI ion source or our self-assembled ion source). Then the sample ions are transported to the first quadrupole for selection of specific precursor ions, then the selected precursor ions are transmitted into the collision cell for fragmentation. Finally, only specific fragment ions are selected to pass through the final quadrupole and detected, and corresponding SRM chromatogram could be obtained for quantitative analysis.

1.5.4.2 Quadrupole Time-of-flight (Q-ToF) Mass Spectrometer

Q-ToF mass spectrometer was introduced in 1996,⁹⁰ and is mainly used for qualitative analysis. This mass spectrometer combines a quadrupole mass filter with a ToF analyzer. With this hybrid tandem mass spectrometer, informative mass spectra with high resolution could be obtained. A quadrupole time-of-flight (Q-ToF) tandem mass spectrometer (API QStar Pulsar, PE Sciex, Canada) was employed for qualitative analysis in this thesis.

Figure 1-16 is the schematic diagram of the API QStar Pulsar mass spectrometer. Sample is ionized in the ion source part and the ions are transmitted to quadrupole analyzer RQ1, then collision-induced dissociation is carried out in quadrupole RQ2. The fragment ions are directed to fly through the flight tube in the ToF mass analyzer and are detected. Use of ToF mass analyzer enables Q-ToF to have higher resolution than the triple quadrupole mass spectrometer.



Figure 1-16 Schematic diagram of an API QStar Pulsar Q-ToF tandem mass spectrometer.⁹¹

1.6 Outline of This Thesis

The research in this study includes two major parts. The first part is about development of new ionization techniques for direct analysis of complex samples by ESI-MS. The second part is about investigation of MALDI ionization process using the OASP method.

1.6.1 Development of New Ionization Techniques for Direct Analysis of Complex Samples by ESI-MS

Following the development of electrospray ionization using wooden tip,⁶⁰ direct ionization of biological tissue⁵⁷ and EESI,⁶⁴ these techniques were further developed and applied for qualitative and quantitative analysis in this study. The related work in this thesis includes:

Chapter 2: a pipette-tip electrospray ionization mass spectrometry was designed and utilized for direct analysis of herbal powders under ambient conditions. The quantitative analysis of chemical components in powders and rapid differentiation of closely related herbal species were investigated as well.

Chapter 3: a C18 pipette-tip electrospray ionization mass spectrometry was described and applied for direct analysis of raw protein samples and quantitative analysis of abused drugs in human urine. Chapter 4: wooden-tip ESI-MS was applied for rapid quantitation of di-(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (DEHP) in beverages.

Chapter 5: EESI was developed for direct analysis of membrane proteins containing detergents

1.6.2 An Investigation of MALDI Ionization Mechanism

Chapter 6: Use of OASP sample preparation method for investigation of MALDI ionization mechanism revealed exchange of active hydrogens on analytes with the hydrogens from matrix.

Chapter 2 Direct Analysis of Herbal Powders by Pipette-tip Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry

2.1 Introduction

Plants are important natural resources for foods and herbal medicines. Analysis of chemical compositions and bioactive components of plants is an essential part of analytical chemistry and natural product research. Such analysis typically involves various experimental steps including extraction, separation and characterization, which can be time-consuming and labor-intensive. Mass spectrometry (MS) is a powerful tool for analysis of various samples. In recent years, great efforts have been made to allow direct analysis of samples, including plant samples, by mass spectrometry. Direct analysis of plant tissue by MS can now be achieved by using techniques such as secondary ion mass spectrometry (SIMS), matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization (MALDI), desorption electrospray ionization (DESI) and electrospray-assisted laser desorption/ionization (ELDI, or laser ablation electrospray ionization LAESI).9, 61, 92-94 These techniques allow in situ profiling of phytochemicals on surfaces of plant tissue, and the latter two are ambient ionization techniques that can be performed under ambient pressure and require little or no sample preparation.^{4-6, 48, 49} Recently, direct ionization techniques were developed for analysis of plant and animal tissues.^{56, 57, 59, 95} These techniques involved connection of a high voltage to the tissue sample, and with application of solvents if necessary, spray ionization could be induced from the tip of the tissue sample and a mass spectrum regarding phytochemicals of the sample could be obtained.

Herbal powders are commonly present as food, supplementary products, medicines, etc. For example, many household products such as tea, coffee and pepper are usually sold and used in powder forms, and many herbal medicines are prepared in powder forms for convenient uses. Development of a simple and rapid method for analysis of these herbal powders is thus highly desirable for their quality control and food safety. However, there have been few studies about direct analysis of herbal powders by mass spectrometry.^{60, 96, 97} In our group, attempts have been made to use solid-substrate electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (solid-substrate ESI-MS),^{60, 95} e.g., wooden-tip ESI-MS, for direct analysis of herbal powders. Although ion signals with desired intensity could be readily obtained, the reproducibility and duration of signals needed to be further improved, particularly for comparison of different species and for quantitation purpose. In this study, by combining common and disposable pipette tips with syringe pump and ESI-MS (termed pipette-tip ESI-MS herein), we demonstrated that herbal powders could be readily analyzed and stable and continuous signals could be obtained. The method is simple, rapid, only requires a small amount of powder samples, and allows quantitative measurements of chemical components in the samples.

2.2 Experimental Section

2.2.1 Materials and Chemicals

Fructus Schisandrae Chinensis (FSC) and *Fructus Schisandrae Sphenantherae* (FSS) samples were purchased from licensed pharmacy stories in Hong Kong and mainland China and further confirmed by an experienced researcher. Other herbal medicine samples were purchased from licensed pharmacy stores in Hong Kong. Tea samples (green tea, black tea, Pu Erh tea, Iron Buddha tea and jasmine tea) and other herbal food samples were purchased from local supermarkets. Water was distilled water prepared

39

using a Milli-Q system (Millipore, USA). All the other solvents were of HPLC grade and purchased from Tedia (Fairfeild, USA). Caffeine was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

2.2.2 Preparation of Samples and Standard Solutions

The herbal samples used for the analysis in this study were either directly obtained in powder forms or homogenized to powders. The particle sizes of the analyzed samples were typically smaller than 40 mesh. For qualitative analysis, approximate 1 mg of sample powder was filled into a pipette tip for direct analysis.

For direct quantitation of caffeine in the five tea samples using pipette-tip ESI-MS/MS, standard addition method was applied. Caffeine standard solutions used in the standard addition method were prepared at a concentration of 4.00% (w/v) first and then diluted to concentrations of 1.00% and 2.00% with the same solvent (methanol/water, 80/20, v/v). The accurately measured 1 mg of tea powder sample was filled into a pipette-tip and spiked with 1 µl of standard caffeine solutions (0, 1.00%, 2.00% and 4.00%). These moist powder samples with spiked caffeine were dried at 60°C for 5 min and cooled to room temperature for MS analysis.

For quantitation of caffeine in tea samples with ultra performance liquid chromatography ESI-MS/MS (UPLC-ESI-MS/MS), caffeine standard solutions (2, 4, 6, 12, 24, 48 ng/ml) for construction of calibration curve (peak area *versus* caffeine

concentration) were prepared by diluting a 4800 ng/ml caffeine stock solution with methanol/water (50/50, v/v). Each tea sample solution was prepared as follows: 100 mg of accurately weighed tea powder was extracted with 5.00 ml 50/50 (v/v) methanol/water and sonicated for 30 min at room temperature, and then filtered through filter paper. This procedure was repeated twice, and then the filtrate was combined and centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 10 min using a C-28A centrifuge (BOECO, Germany). The supernatant was diluted to exactly 20.00 ml and 150 μ l of this solution was further diluted to 1.00 ml, both with methanol/water (50/50, v/v). The final solution was filtered through a 0.20 μ m hydrophilic PTFE syringe filter (Millex-LG, USA). All solutions were stored at -20 °C prior to MS analysis.

2.2.3 Instrumentation and Setup



Figure 2-1 A schematic diagram of pipette-tip ESI-MS setup.



Figure 2-2 A photo of electrospray generated by pepitte-tip ESI-MS in the analysis of the *Rhizome coptidis* powder.

The designed pipette-tip ESI ion source was assembled and installed as shown in Figure 2-1. The blunt point needle (i.d. 410 μ m and o.d. 720 μ m) of a glass syringe (250 μ l, Hamilton) was inserted into the pipette tip (0.1-10 μ l, SorensonTM) to form a ~2 μ l sealed space which could be filled with a variety of sample powders. A very small degreasing cotton swab was normally placed in front of samples to retain the powders. Methanol/water/formic acid (50/50/0.1, v/v/v) was used as the extraction and spraying solvent if not specified elsewhere. A syringe pump (Harvard Pump 11 Plus) was employed to supply solvents with adjustable flow rates. A high voltage (typically 5.5 kV) was applied to the stainless steel syringe needle and conducted to the pipette tip end through the solvent to induce electrospray ionization (Figure 2-2). Mass spectrometric measurements were performed in positive ion mode unless specified.

For qualitative analysis, the pipette-tip ESI ion source was coupled with a quadrupole time-of-flight (Q-TOF) mass spectrometer (QStar Pulsar, Applied Biosystems, USA). The mass spectrometer was operated with a curtain gas flow of 30 A. U., and the spray voltage (IS), first declustering potential (DP1), focusing potential (FP) and second declustering potential (DP2) were set to optimum values in both positive and negative ion modes. For differentiation of herbal samples, spectra from the first 60 scans (1 min) were accumulated for principal component analysis (PCA) using SPSS software (version 18.0, SPSS Inc., USA).

For direct quantitation of caffeine contents in the tea samples, the pipette-tip ESI ion source was coupled with a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (Quattro Ultima, Waters) in the selected reaction monitoring (SRM) mode. The capillary voltage, cone voltage and source temperature were set at 4.0 kV, 30 V and 150 °C respectively. The selected reaction m/z 195 $\rightarrow m/z$ 138 was monitored with a collision energy of 19 eV and a dwelling time of 0.5 s for quantitation, while another selected reaction m/z 195 $\rightarrow m/z$ 110 was monitored with a collision energy of 21 eV and the same dwelling time for further confirmation. The inter-channel delay time and inter-scan delay time were set at 0.02 s and 0.1 s respectively. MRM spectra of the first 120 scans (2 min) was accumulated and processed with MassLynxTM V4.0 software (Waters, USA).

Conventional quantitation of caffeine contents in the tea samples was performed on a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer, which was equipped with a routine ESI ion source and an UPLC system (ACQUITY UPLC, Waters, USA) and operated in SRM mode. A
Waters ACQUITY UPLC BEH C18 column (1.7 μ m, 2.1 × 50 mm,) was used for chromatographic separation. The autosampler temperature was set at 10 °C and the injection volume was 2 μ l. Milli-Q water containing 0.1% formic acid was used as mobile phase A and acetonitrile containing 0.1% formic acid was used as mobile phase B. The mobile phase flow rate was 0.40 ml/min. The caffeine analyte was eluted with a solvent gradient as follows: 0-12 min 5-26% mobile phase B; 12-14 min 26-65% mobile phase B; 14-19 min 65-5% mobile phase B; 19-20 min 5% mobile phase B.

2.3 Results and discussion

2.3.1 General Properties of Pipette-tip ESI-MS

Figure 2-3a is the total ion current (TIC) chromatogram obtained by analysis of the powder of *Rhizome coptidis*, a common herbal medicine, using pipette-tip ESI-MS. With a flow rate of 3 µl/min for the extraction and spray solvent (methanol/water 50/50, v/v), the signals from 0.5 mg *Rhizome coptidis* powder could last more than 60 minutes. The total ion intensity was relatively stable in the first 10 minutes and gradually declined as the time went on. The obtained mass spectrum was predominated by three species: coptisine at m/z 320.1, berberine or epiberberine at m/z 336.1, and plamatine at m/z 352.2 (Figure 2-3b). The mass spectrum obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS here was very similar to that obtained by direct ionization analysis of the same herbal species,⁵⁷ but the signals obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS were much more stable and durable.



Figure 2-3 Pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of *Rhizome coptidis*: (**a**) Total ion current; (**b**) Mass spectrum obtained by accumulation of spectra between 55-60 min.

Various solvents, including hydrophilic and hydrophobic organic solvents such as methanol, ethanol, isopropanol, acetonitrile, acetone, hexane, methylene dichloride, chloroform and their mixtures with different proportions of water, were tested as the extraction and spray solvents for pipette-tip ESI-MS. It was found that the acquired spectra were predominated by the same alkaloids for the *Rhizome coptidis* powder with all the solvents tested. The expectation that different extraction and ionization efficiency achieved by solvents of different polarities was not observed. This result might be due to the high ionization efficiency of the alkaloid components in the sample. The limited effects of extraction and spray solvents observed in this study are consistent with

previous results obtained with direct ionization analysis of tissue samples.^{57, 59} For pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of herbal powders, methanol/water/formic acid (50/50/0.1, v/v/v), a common ESI solvent system, was chosen as the extraction and ionization solvent in this study unless specified elsewhere.

The effects of other parameters of the pipette-tip ESI ion source were investigated and the settings were optimized. The distance between the pipette-tip end and the MS inlet was determined to be around 2 cm for optimum signal intensities and to avoid contamination to the MS inlet. Regarding the diameter of the pipette-tip end, it was found that at a fixed high voltage, smaller pipette-tip ends resulted in stronger mass spectral signals. For convenient applications, common 0.1-10 μ l pipette tips having an i.d. of ~550 μ m and an o.d. of ~ 700 μ m at the tip end, which are compatible with the needle of common 250 μ l syringe, were directly used without further modification.



Figure 2-4 Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of the *Rhizome coptidis* powder using six individual pipette tips.

Electrospray ionization from disposable pipette tips has been reported previously.^{55, 98} However, those designs typically involved insertion of a platinum wire to connect the high voltage to the tip end. Our present technique makes use of the stainless steel syringe needle for delivery of the high voltage, which further reaches the pipette-tip end through the solvents. Solvents have been demonstrated to be good media for delivery of high voltage to induce spray ionization.^{99, 100} Pipette tips used in this study have a conical shape and tip end with inner diameter (i.d. 550 µm) smaller than the outer diameter (o.d. 720 µm) of the syringe needle, thus allowing a space between the two tip ends for accommodation of powder samples for analysis. Solvents from the syringe pass through the powder samples, extract the chemicals from the powders, spray out of the pipette tip with application of a high voltage (see Figure 2-2 for a photo of such electrospray), and mass spectra are obtained for the samples. The current setup is simple and easily achievable in common laboratories. The syringe pump allows controllable and reproducible flow of solvents for extraction and ionization and thus acquisition of reproducible spectra. As shown in Figure 2-4, good reproducibility was observed for spectra obtained by analysis of 1.0 mg Rhizome coptidis powder with six individual pipette tips at a solvent flow rate of 3 µl/min.

2.3.2 Qualitative Analysis of Various Herbal Powders

$Co\!f\!f\!ee$



Figure 2-5 Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of roasted coffee beans: (a) Positive ion mode; (b) Negative ion mode. (MA: Malic acid; QA: Quinic acid; CA: Caffeic acid; CSA: Caffeoylshikimic acid; CQA: Caffeoylquinic acid; FQA: Feruloyquinic acid; DCQA: Dicaffeoylquinic acid.)

Coffee is generally the powder of roasted coffee beans from plant *Coffea*, and is one of the most popular brewed beverages in the world due to its wake-up efficacy and special taste. The bitter taste and wake-up consequence of coffee comes from its stimulant compound, caffeine, while the sour taste comes from its acidic compounds.¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰³ A coffee sample was analyzed by pipette-tip ESI-MS with both positive and negative ion modes in this study, and the spectra are shown in Figure 2-5. In positive ion mode, two alkaloids, trigonelline (m/z 138.1) and caffeine (m/z 195.1),¹⁰⁴ were predominantly detected in the spectrum (Figure 2-5a). In negative ion mode, five phenolic acids: caffeic acid (m/z 179.1), caffeoylshikimic acid (m/z 335.1), caffeoylquinic acid (m/z 353.1), feruloylquinic acid (m/z 367.1) and dicaffeoylquinic acid (m/z 515.1), and malic acid (m/z 133.0) and quinic acid (m/z 191.1), two organic acids widely existed in fruits ¹⁰⁵, were detected in their deprotonated forms (Figure 2-5b). All of these phytochemicals were further identified by their MS/MS mass spectra. Comparing with the mass spectra obtained by analysis of coffee extracts with conventional ESI-MS,¹⁰⁶ the positive ion spectrum obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS was simpler and contained fewer peaks, most probably due to the difference in extraction conditions.

Lotus plumule

Lotus plumule is the core of the seed of *Nelumbo nucifera* Gaertn. It serves as a traditional herbal medicine to calm the nervous system.¹⁰⁷ Lotus plumule is commonly characterized and evaluated by alkaloids, its main bioactive components.¹⁰⁸ The doubly and singly charged proton adducts of isoliensinine at m/z 306.2 and m/z 611.3 respectively, together with the doubly and singly charged proton adducts of neferine at

m/z 313.2 and m/z 625.3 respectively, dominated the spectrum obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of the lotus plumule powder (Figure 2-6a). These alkaloids were identified by their MS/MS spectra (Figure 2-6b and 2-6c) and also observed by LC-ESI-MS analysis of the lotus plumule extract in a previous study.¹⁰⁹



Figure 2-6 (a) Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of lotus plumule; (b) MS/MS spectrum of m/z 611.3; (c) MS/MS spectrum of m/z 625.3.

51

Great burdock achene



Figure 2-7 Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of great burdock achene.

Great burdock achene is the ripe seed of *Arctium lappa* Lim and is also a common herbal medicine. The spectrum obtained for the powder of this sample was predominated with potassium adducts of glycoside arctiin (m/z 573.2) and aglycone arctigenin (m/z 411.1) (Figure 2-7), which were previously detected by LC-ESI-MS/MS¹¹⁰ and GC-MS.¹¹¹ Both arctiin and arctigenin were considered to be very valuable phytochemicals because of their anti-cancer and other bioactivities.^{112, 113} Choline (m/z 104.1) and disaccharide (m/z 381.1), two common constituents in plants, were also observed in the acquired spectrum (Figure 2-7).



Figure 2-8 (a) Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of black pepper; (b) MS/MS spectrum of m/z 286.2.

Black pepper (*Piper nigrum*) is a widely used flavoring. The piquancy of black pepper is mainly originated from an alkaloid, piperine,¹¹⁴ the major component of black pepper that was reported to inhibit human p-glycoprotein and CYP3A4.¹¹⁵ Detection of this compound from black pepper normally requires time-consuming solvent extraction.^{116, 117} In this study, piperine, observed as the proton and potassium adducts at m/z 286.1 and

324.1 respectively, could be readily detectd by direct analysis of the black pepper powder and identified by the MS/MS spectrum with pipette-tip ESI-MS (Figure 2-8). In addition to piperine, trisaccharide was also detected as potassium adduct ion (m/z 543.1) in the mass spectrum.

Green tea



Figure 2-9 Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of green tea: (**a**) Positive ion mode; (**b**) Negative ion mode. (MA: Malic acid; QA: Quinic acid; C: Catechin; GC: Gallocatechin; CQA: 4-*p*-Coumaroylquinic acid; ECG: Epicatechin-3-gallate; EGCG: Epigallocatechin-3-gallate)

Tea is another type of popular brewed beverages consumed worldwide, especially in Asia. For convenience, some commercial tea is made into powder and packed in small bags for fast brewing, so powder is a very significant form for tea. In the analysis of green tea powder with pipette-tip ESI-MS, both positive and negative ion modes were employed. In positive ion mode, bitter-tasting caffeine was detected as proton adduct (m/z 195.1) and sweet-tasting theanine was detected as both proton adduct (m/z 175.1) and potassium adduct (m/z 213.1) (Figure 2-9a).¹¹⁸ Choline and isoleucine (or leucine) (m/z 132.1) was observed too. All of these chemical components were determined by their MS/MS spectra and exact mass measurements. In negative ion mode, three organic acids: malic acid (m/z 133.0), quinic acid (m/z 191.1) and 4-*p*-coumaroylquinic acid (m/z 337.1) were identified. The well-known bitter-tasting antioxidative tea polyphenols: catechin (m/z 289.1), gallocatechin (m/z 305.1) and epicatechin-3-gallate (m/z 441.1) and epigallocatechin-3-gallate (m/z 457.1), were detected in their deprotonated form (Figure 2-9b).¹¹⁹





Figure 2-10 Mass spectra obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of *Panax ginseng* (a),*Panax quinquefolius* (b) and *Panax notoginseng* (c).

Panax ginseng, Panax quinquefolius and Panax notoginseng are three well known and valuable traditional herbal medicines. They are closely related but have very different pharmacological effects. Such differences were believed to be attributed to their differences in compositions of ginsenosides that were believed to be their bioactive components.^{56, 96, 120} For *Panax ginseng*, which is also known as Asian ginseng, as shown in Figure 2-10a, ginsenosides, including Rg₁ (m/z 839.5), Re (m/z 985.5), $Rb_2/Rb_3/Rc$ (*m/z* 1117.6), Rb_1 (*m/z* 1147.6), pseudo-G-F₈/Rs₁/Rs₂ (*m/z* 1159.6), malonyl Rb₂/Rb₃/Rc (*m/z* 1203.6), malonyl Rb₁/Q-II (*m/z* 1233.6), Ra₁/Ra₂ (*m/z* 1249.6), Ra₃ (m/z 1279.6) and malonyl Ra₁/Ra₂ (m/z 1335.6), could be detected. For Panax quinquefolius, which is also known as American ginseng, as shown in Figure 2-10b, mainly five components, i.e., Rg₁, Re, Rb₂/Rb₃/Rc, Rb₁, and malonyl Rb₁/Q-II, could be detected. For *Panax notoginseng*, which is known as San Qi in Chinese, as shown in Figure 2-10c, only four components, i.e., Rg₁, Re, Rb₁ and Ra₃, were detected. The mass spectra obtained here showed that the three ginseng herbs exhibited different composition of ginsenosides, allowing differentiation of these three closely related herbal medicines. Comparing with a previous MALDI-MS study for differentiation of Panax ginseng and Panax quinquefolius,⁹⁶ the spectra obtained with the current method showed similar patterns of ginsenosides, but much higher signal-to-noise ratio (S/N) for these compounds.



Figure 2-11 Mass spectrum obtained by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis of FSC (a) and FSS(b); (c) PCA score plot obtained based on the mass spectra of FSC and FSS.

Fructus Schisandrae Chinensis (FSC) and Fructus Schisandrae Sphenantherae (FSS)

FSC, known as Beiwuweizi in Chinese, is the ripe fruit of Schisandra chinensis (Turca.) Baill, which mainly grows in the northern part of China. FSS, known as Nanwuweizi in Chinese, is the ripe fruit of Schisandra sphenanthera Rehd. et Wils., which mainly grows in the southern part of China. Both of them could be used as tonic agent in TCM and food in daily life. FSC is considered to be better in quality and efficacy than FSS. FSC and FSS have very similar appearances and thus require analytical techniques for differentiation. The spectra obtained for these two herbal species by pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis with ethanol/water (50/50, v/v) as the extraction and ionization solvent were shown in Figure 2-11a and 2-11b. Lignans, the bioactive components of these species,¹²¹, ¹²² were predominantly detected and the lignans patterns observed were similar to those obtained by direct ionization analysis of the same species.⁵⁷.Deoxyschisandrin ([M+H]⁺ at m/z 417.2 and $[M+K]^+$ at m/z 455.2) and schisantherin B/schisantherin C ($[M+K]^+$ at m/z 553.2) could be detected in the spectra of both FSC and FSS; while schisandrin B $([M+H]^+$ at m/z 401.2 and $[M+K]^+$ at m/z 439.2) and schisandrin $([M+H]^+$ at m/z 433.2 and $[M+K]^+$ at m/z 471.2) could only be detected in the spectrum of FSC, and schisantherin A ($[M+H]^+$ at m/z, 575.2) could only be detected in the spectrum of FSS. In this study, ten batches of each species of samples were analyzed, and each sample was measured three times and mass spectra in the range of m/z 100-600 were centered and scaled for PCA analysis. As shown in Figure 2-11c, the PCA score plots (PC1 versus PC2) allowed clear differentiation of the two species. One FSS sample subjected to a specifically different manufacturing process was found to have apparently different lignan compositions and thus different PCA results compared to other samples of the same species. The total contribution of PC1 and PC2 represented 83.38% of all variables

after the dimensions reduction treatment in PCA. Compared with differentiation of FSS and FSC using surface desorption atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry (DAPCI-MS),¹²³ pipette-tip ESI-MS allowed detection of lignans, the active components of these herbal species that are relatively nonvolative and could not be observed by DAPCI-MS.

2.3.3 Quantitative Analysis of Caffeine Contents in Tea Powders

Tea is another type of popular brewed beverages consumed worldwide. Many tea products are made in powders and packed in small bags for fast brewing. Pipette-tip ESI MS spectra of such a green tea sample were shown in Figure 2-9.



Figure 2-12 Calibration curve for quantitation of caffeine in the green tea (peak area *versus* spiked caffeine content).

Sample	UPLC-ESI-MS/MS	Pipette-tip ESI-MS/MS	
	(Mean ± SD, n=3)	(Mean ± SD, n=3)	
Green tea	1.322 ± 0.068	1.191 ± 0.173	
Black tea	2.403 ± 0.115	2.123 ± 0.133	
Pu Erh tea	2.960 ± 0.168	2.621 ± 0.336	
Iron buddha tea	2.953 ± 0.120	2.376 ± 0.240	
Jasmine tea	4.059 ± 0.246	3.149 ± 0.405	

 Table 2-1 Caffeine contents (w/w, %) in five tea samples determined by pipette-tip ESI

 MS/MS and UPLC-ESI-MS/MS.

The stable and reproducible signals offered by pipette-tip ESI-MS enabled quantitative analysis of components in the powder samples. This was demonstrated by quantitative measurement of caffeine content in tea powders in this study. Standard addition method was used for the measurements. As shown in Figure 2-12, a calibration plot (peak area *versus* spiked caffeine content) was constructed for each tea sample, and the absolute value of the x-intercept was the original caffeine content in the sample. Five tea samples, including green tea, black tea, Pu Erh tea, Iron Buddha tea and jasmine tea, were analyzed and the results were summarized in Table 2-1. As a comparison, these samples

were also analyzed by UPLC-ESI-MS/MS. The caffeine contents obtained from the pipette-tip ESI-MS/MS method were comparable to those from the UPLC-ESI-MS/MS method. This part demonstrated the capability of pipette-tip ESI-MS in rapid quantitation of chemical components in herbal powders.

2.4 Conclusions

A novel technique, pipette-tip ESI-MS, was developed and demonstrated for direct and rapid analysis of herbal powders without prior extraction and chromatographic separation. Powder is a common form for herbal medicine and food in daily life. Phytochemicals in the analyzed samples could be rapidly detected with this new technique. Compared to the recently developed direct ionization of bulky solid tissue, the signals of this technique were more stable, durable and reproducible, due to the continuous and stable supply of spraying solvents and the more homogenous sample form. In this study, pipette-tip ESI-MS was successfully applied for qualitative analysis of herbal medicine and food, allowing differentiation of herbal medicines with similar appearances. Application of pipette-tip ESI-MS/MS for rapid quantitation of herbal powders was also demonstrated by measurements of caffeine contents in five tea samples. The quantitative results were comparable to those obtained by using a conventional method (UPLC-ESI-MS/MS). This novel technique will be further optimized and applied to analysis of wider range of samples, e.g., biological tissues, in the future.

62

Chapter 3 Direct Analysis of Complex Solution Samples by C-18 Pipette-tip Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry

Chapter 3

3.1 Introduction

In this part, the pipette-tip electrospray MS was further extended for direct analysis of complex solution samples. The herbal powder filled into pipette tip end was replaced with sorbent C18 for sample desalting, purification and concentration. Pipette tip-based micro-extraction (TBME) has been reported,¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶ and such a C18 pipette tip, i.e., ZipTip, is commercially available. In this study, the C18 pipette tip column is combined with syringe and syringe pump for ESI-MS analysis (Figure 3-1). After sample loading and clean-up, analyte molecules bound to C18 bed are directly sprayed out for ESI-MS analysis with the application of a high voltage. Electrospray ionization from C18 pipette tip or similar pipette-tip columns has been reported previously.^{55, 98} However, those previous setup required insertion of a metal wire for connection of the high voltage and in some cases additional power supplies. Moreover, typically only about 2 µL of elution solvent was supplied and the signals were usually unstable and could not last a long time. As shown in Figure 3-1, our technique made uses of a syringe needle and solvents^{99, 100} for delivery of the high voltage and a syringe pump for supply of solvents. It is simple, easy to assemble, and ensures continuous and stable signals. The elution solvent serves as the mobile phase for elution and subsequent spray ionization of the absorbed analytes. In this study, using rapid analysis of proteins in presence of salts or detergents and direct quantitation of ketamine and norketamine in urine samples as examples, we demonstrated the qualitative and quantitative capabilities of this technique.



Figure 3-1 The schematic diagram of C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS.

3.2 Experimental Section

3.2.1 Materials and Chemicals

C18 pipette tips, i.e., 10 μ L ZipTip containing 0.6 μ L C18 resin, were purchased from Millipore (USA). The C18 resin was made of silica of 15 μ m diameter and 200 Å pore size. Cytochrome *c* from equine heart, myoglobin from equine heart, α -lactalbumin from bovine milk and sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Urine was collected from a healthy volunteer. Water was distilled water prepared using a Milli-Q system (Millipore, USA). All the other solvents were of HPLC grade and purchased from Tedia (Fairfeild).

3.2.2 Sample Preparation

For the detection of proteins, 5 μ M cytochrome c, myoglobin and α -lactalbumin were prepared in the solution of NaCl (1%) or SDS (0.1%). Then the protein solution was mixed with methanol (0.2% FA) in a volume ratio of 1: 1 for conventional ESI-MS analysis as comparison, and spiked with 0.1% TFA for sample preparation with C18 pipette tip and subsequent C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS analysis.

For quantitation of ketamine and norketamine, standard solutions of ketamine or norketamine were prepared with concentrations of 400, 100, 50, 10, 5, 2 μ g mL⁻¹ in methanol, and internal standard solution of d₄-norketamine was prepared with a concentration of 50 μ g mL⁻¹ in methanol. Urine samples containing ketamine and norketamine for quantitative analysis were prepared with the followed procedures: 1 mL urine containing 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) was spiked with 1 μ L ketamine and 1 μ L norketamine standard solutions of various concentrations (2, 5, 10, 50, 100, 400 μ g mL⁻¹), then 1 μ L of the internal standard solution was added to each solution. Finally, a set of urine samples containing ketamine and norketamine with different concentrations (2, 5, 10, 50, 100, 400 ng mL⁻¹) and d₄-norketamine with a fixed concentration (50 ng mL⁻¹) were obtained. Blank urine sample for limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantitation (LOQ) measurements was prepared by mixing 1 mL urine containing 0.1% FA with 1 μ L of the internal standard solution.

In order to reduce the matrix influences on MS analysis, the C18 pipette tip was used to remove salts, detergents or other non-absorbed compounds in urine, using the following procedures that are similar to the protocol described in the Millipore C18 ZipTip manual:

- 1. Attach the pipette tip to a 20 μ L micropipette with a volume setting at10 μ L. Aspirate 10 μ L acetonitrile to the pipette tip for wetting and then pipette it out. Repeat this step three times.
- 2. Aspirate 10 μ L water containing 0.1% TFA for equilibration and then pipette it out. Repeat this step three times.
- 3. Aspirate 10 μ L urine sample for sample loading. Repeat this step six times and each time the sample solution was discarded.
- 4. Aspirate 10 μ L water containing 0.1% TFA for washing. This step could remove the salts and some polar compounds to reduce their influences. Repeat this step three times.

After these procedures, the C18 pipette tip was combined with the syringe and syringe pump for direct electrospray ionization MS analysis.

3.2.3 Instrumentation and Setup

As shown in Figure 3-1, the setup for C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS is similar with that for pipette-tip ESI-MS as described in the previous chapter. For the analysis of the protein solutions with C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS, the C18 pipette-tip ESI ion source was coupled with a quadrupole time-of-flight (Q-ToF) mass spectrometer (QStar Pulsar, Applied Biosystems). For the analysis of proteins solutions with conventional ESI-MS, the

equipped ESI ion source was coupled with a same mass spectrometer. The mass spectrometer was operated at the same conditions as described in chapter 2.

For quantitation of ketamine and norketamine in urine, the C18 pipette-tip ESI ion source was coupled with a triple quadruple mass spectrometer (Quattro Ultima, Waters), with the pipette tip end located at a position with a perpendicular distance of 3.0 cm and parallel distance of 1.0 cm to the MS inlet. The capillary voltage, cone voltage and source temperature were set at 3.8 kV, 30 V and 80 °C respectively. The elution and spray solvent used was 80% methanol containing 1.0% FA, and the flow rate is 5 µL min⁻¹. The equipment was performed in the positive selected reaction monitoring (SRM) mode. The product ion scan mass spectra of ketamine and norketamine are shown in Figure 3-2, with the potential chemical structures of major fragments labeled according to previous reports.^{127, 128} Ion m/z 125, the major fragment ion for both ketamine and norketamine, was chosen as the product ion in the SRM scan for the two compounds. The selected reaction m/z 238 $\rightarrow m/z$ 125 for ketamine was monitored with a collision energy of 25 eV and a dwelling time of 0.2 s; the selected reaction m/z 224 $\rightarrow m/z$ 125 for norketamine was monitored with a collision energy of 20 eV and the same dwelling time of 0.2 s; the selected reaction m/z 228 $\rightarrow m/z$ 129 for internal standard d₄norketamine was monitored with the same conditions as for norketamine. The interchannel delay time and inter-scan delay time were set at 0.02 s and 0.1 s respectively. The spectra were acquired and processed with the MassLynxTM V4.0 software (Waters, UK).



Figure 3-2 Product ion scan mass spectra obtained for 5 μ g mL⁻¹ketamine (**a**) and norketamine (**b**) in methanol containing 0.1% FA (potential chemical structures of the major product ions are labeled).

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Analysis of Protein Solutions Containing Salt or Detergent

Salts and detergents are commonly present in protein samples.^{129, 130} Salts such as sodium chloride are widely used to mimic the physiological environment of organisms for *in vitro* protein research, while detergents such as sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) are commonly employed for protein isolation and solubilization, especially for membrane proteins that are usually of poor solubility.^{131, 132} Mass spectrometry is the method of choice for analysis of proteins, however, it is not compatible with salts and detergents. Removal of salts and detergents from protein samples is thus essential prior to mass spectrometric analysis.^{130, 131, 133} Various methods have been employed for removal of salts and these methods are usually time-consuming and laborious.^{131, 134} In this study, C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS was attempted for analysis of protein solutions containing salts and detergents, in an effort to develop approaches for rapid detection of proteins in the presence of salts and detergents.

A solution of cytochrome c (5 μ M) containing 1% NaCl was analyzed by C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS, in comparison with conventional ESI-MS. As shown in Figure 3-3, only the NaCl clusters and no signals of the protein could be detected in the mass spectrum when the sample was analyzed by conventional ESI-MS. While with C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS, multiply charged ions of cytochrome *c* (*m*/*z* 1112.7, 1223.7, 1359.6 1529.5 and 1747.7) were clearly observed in the spectrum with almost no signal of the salt. Similar results were obtained when another protein solution, 5 μ M myoglobin with 1% NaCl, was analyzed. As shown in Figure 3-4, no peaks corresponding to myoglobin were observed

in the spectrum obtained with conventional ESI-MS; while with C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS, quality spectrum showing a series of multiply charged ions of myoglobin (m/z 848.6, 893.2, 942.7, 998.1, 1060.4, 1131.1, 1211.8, 1304.9, 1413.6, 1542.0 and 1696.1) and the heme (m/z 616.2) was obtained. These results demonstrated the capability of C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS for desalting and rapid analysis of protein samples containing salts.



Figure 3-3 Spectra obtained by analysis of cytochrome c (5 μ M, 1% NaCl) with conventional ESI-MS and C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS.



Figure 3-4 Spectra obtained by analysis of myoglobin (5 μ M, 1% NaCl) with conventional ESI-MS and C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS.

Protein solutions containing detergents were examined as well in this study, and the spectral results are shown in Figure 3-5. α -Lactalbumin, a common membrane protein, in a solution containing 0.1% SDS was analyzed using both ESI-MS and C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS. Conventional ESI-MS could not detect any protein signals and only the SDS clusters could be obtained. With C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS, the multiply charged ions of α -lactalbumin (*m*/*z* 1289.9, 1418.8, 1576.3, 1773.2, 2026.4 and 2363.9) could be detected obviously.

During the sample processing with C18 pipette tip, relatively hydrophobic proteins could be readily absorbed by no-polar C18 resin, while hydrophilic NaCl and SDS could not be absorbed and are washed out. This allows rapid and convenient detection of protein from solutions containing salts and detergents by using C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS.



Figure 3-5 Spectra obtained by analysis of α -lactalbumin (5 μ M, 0.1% SDS) with conventional ESI-MS and C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS.

3.3.2 Quantitation of Ketamine and Norketamine in Urine



Figure 3-6 Chemical structures of ketamine and norketamine.

Drug abuse, especially the abuse of psychotropic drugs, is a serious problem worldwide. Abuse of psychotropic drugs could not only harm the health of the abusers, but also bring a lot of social problems. Many kinds of psychotropic drugs are thus prohibited or controlled in most countries in the world. Ketamine, called as "K powder" in Hong Kong, is a kind of abused psychotropic drug to induce psychedelic effects to the abusers,¹³⁵ and norketamine is the major metabolite of ketamine in human body (Figure 3-6).^{136, 137} The abuse of ketamine popularly existed in east and southeast Asia, especially in Singapore and Hong Kong,¹³⁸ and the involved population has been growing in recent years.¹³⁹ Identification of ketamine abusers is critical for drug control, which usually relies on measurements of ketamine residue and norketamine in the abusers' urine, blood, nail and hair.¹⁴⁰⁻¹⁴³ Urine is commonly chosen for the measurement due to the relatively high concentrations of ketamine and norketamine and

larger volume available. For identification of ketamine abusers and judicial practice in drug control, a valid and rapid method for quantitative analysis of ketamine and norketamine in urine is essential.

Quantitation of ketamine and norketamine in urine is usually performed using MS combined with GC or HPLC.^{127, 140, 142, 144, 145} In order to reduce interferences of matrices in the urine samples, extensive sample pretreatments are required before chromatographic separation and MS detection.^{127, 140, 142, 144, 145} Development of simple, rapid and high-throughput methods are thus highly desirable for the growing analytical demands in beat drugs campaigns.

Ambient MS developed in recent years⁴⁻⁶ allows direct analysis of complex samples without sample pretreatments and chromatographic separation. These new ionization techniques have been attempted for direct analysis of abused drugs. For example, DESI was applied to directly detect ketamine on skin.⁶³ Very recently, direct detection and quantitation of ketamine and norketamine in urine and oral fluid was successfully achieved in our group using wooden-tip ESI-MS.¹²⁸ The linear range, limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantitation (LQD) of this technique for quantitation of both ketamine and norketamine in urine were 50-5000 ng mL⁻¹, 20 ng mL⁻¹ and 50 ng mL⁻¹ respectively.¹²⁸ For direct analysis of various real samples, a linear range with lower concentrations and lower LOD and LOQ may be required,¹⁴² and a new method is thus expected. In this study, C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS was examined for direct quantitation of ketamine in urine.



Figure 3-7 The SRM chromatograms of three measurements using three individual C18 pipette tips and the same C18 pipette tip.

We first tested the possibility to repeatedly use one C18 pipette tip for the measurements. The reproducibility using three individual C18 pipette tip or the same C18 pipette tip for three repeat measurements was investigated with a urine sample spiked with 50 ng mL⁻¹ ketamine, norketamine and the internal standard, and the obtained TIC spectra are shown in Figure 3-7. For three individual C18 pipette tips the RSD (relative standard deviation) for the three peak area ratios of ketamine and norketamine to the internal standard was 10.2% and 9.8% respectively, which are acceptable for sample analysis.

For the repeat measurements using the same C18 pipette tip, the peak area ratios for ketamine and norketamine were 11.6% and 13.1% respectively, which were comparable with acceptable RSD and indicating no memory effects from the previous measurement. To reduce the experiment costs and make the measurement simpler, one C18 pipette tip was used for the whole measurements. The re-used C18 pipette tip was carefully washed with 200 μ L methanol/ water/1% FA (50/50/1, v/v/v) each time before the measurement.

Quantitation of ketamine and norketamine in urine was simultaneously performed with C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS, using d₄-norketamine as the internal standard and selected reactions $m/z 238 \rightarrow m/z 125$, $m/z 224 \rightarrow m/z 125$, and $m/z 228 \rightarrow m/z 125$ for the three compounds respectively. The C18 pipette tip allowed rapid sample enrichment and clean-up. A lower concentration range of 2-400 ng mL⁻¹ was thus investigated with this novel technique. The SRM chromatograms for ketamine (m/z 238 > 125) and norketamine (m/z 224 > 125) in the concentration sequence of 2, 5, 10, 50, 200, 400 ng mL⁻¹ and the internal standard d₄-norketamine (m/z 228 > 128) with a fixed concentration of 50 ng mL⁻¹ are shown in Figure 3-8. A positive correlation between the peak area and analyte concentration was found both in the analysis of ketamine and norketamine. The peak area of the internal standard for different samples did not vary significantly. As shown in Figure 3-8, distinct chromatographic peaks with a time window of 40-80 s could be obtained within two minutes. Since the sample preparation procedure with the C18 pipette tip only needed about 2-3 minutes for each sample, the total time for analysis of each sample could be less than 5 minutes.



Figure 3-8 The SRM chromatograms for simultaneous detection of ketamine (m/z 238 > 125, 2-400 ng mL⁻¹), norketamine (m/z 224 > 125, 2-400 ng mL⁻¹) and the internal standard d₄-norketamine (m/z 228 > 129, 50 ng mL⁻¹).

	Ketamine		Norketamine	
Concentration	Reak area	RSD	Reak area	RSD
(ng. mL ⁻¹)	ratio (analyte/IS)	(n = 3 , %)	ratio (analyte/IS)	(n =3, %)
2	0.1066	3.05	0.0978	11.13
5	0.1755	3.02	0.1804	7.60
10	0.3070	3.02	0.4966	4.47
50	1.6935	5.04	2.1889	8.50
100	3.1496	5.82	4.0405	6.15
400	12.8589	5.43	16.7950	8.03

Table 3-1 RSD for each sample in quantitation of ketamine and norketamine.

For construction of calibration curves, each urine sample was measured for three times, and the mean values of the peak area ratios between analyte and the internal standard and their relative standard deviation (RSD) were shown in Table 3-1. The calibration curves for ketamine and norketamine, as shown in Figure 3-9, were obtained by plotting peak area ratio against the analyte concentration. For both ketamine and norketamine, the calibration curves displayed excellent linear relationship over the examined concentration range of 2-400 ng mL⁻¹. The coefficient R² was very closed to 1 for both ketamine (R² = 0.9999) and norketamine (R² = 0.9998). This linear range covered the lowest detected concentrations for both ketamine and norketamine in drug abusers' urine.¹⁴² This achieved linear range was comparable to the conventional HPLC-MS and
GC-MS in the previous reports.^{127, 128, 140, 141, 144, 145} The RSDs for analysis of each sample were listed in Table 3-1, which were acceptable for the measurements.



Figure 3-9 Calibration curves for ketamine (a) and norketamine (b).

	Ketamine			Norketamine		
Spiked Concentration	Measured Concentration	Precision (n=6)	Accuracy (n=6)	Measured Concentration	Precision (n=6)	Accuracy (n=6)
(ng mL ⁻¹)	(ng mL ⁻¹)			(ng mL ⁻¹)		
20	18.9	13%	94%	19.6	5%	98%
200	179.2	5%	90%	177.1	7%	89%

Table 3-2 Precision and accuracy for quantitation of ketamine and norketamine in urine

 with C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS.

The precision and accuracy for quantitation of ketamine and norketamine in urine with C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS were investigated as well (Table 3-2). A low concentration at 20 ng mL⁻¹ and a high concentration at 200 ng mL⁻¹ were measured. For ketamine, the precisions were determined to be 13% and 5%, and the accuracies were determined to be 94% and 90%, at the two concentrations respectively. For norketamine, the precisions were 5% and 7%, and accuracies were 98% and 89%, at two concentrations respectively. These results were comparable to those obtained with conventional methods.^{127, 128, 140-142, 144, 145}

The limit-of-detection (LOD) and limit-of-quantitation (LOQ) of this method were determined by comparing the peak height of the analyte with the average height of the noises after the analyte peak. The LOD and LOQ were defined as the concentration of

the analyte when the signal of the analyte is three and ten times of the signal of the noises respectively. The LOD and LOQ for the present technique were determined to be 0.3 ng mL⁻¹ and 0.5 ng mL⁻¹, and 0.8 ng mL⁻¹ and 1.0 ng mL⁻¹ for ketamine and norketamine respectively (Figures 3-10 and 3-11). These LOD and LOQ were good enough for analysis of real samples.¹⁴²



Figure 3-10 The SRM chromatograms of ketamine with concentrations of 0.3 ng mL⁻¹ and 0.5 ng mL⁻¹ in urine for LOD and LOQ determination respectively.



Figure 3-11 The SRM chromatograms of norketamine with concentration of 0.3 ng mL⁻¹ and 0.5 ng mL⁻¹ in urine for LOD and LOQ determination respectively.

3.4 Conclusions

By combining C18 pipette tip, a device for rapid purification of samples, with syringe and syringe pump, a C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS technique was developed. In this technique, analyte in complex samples was concentrated and purified by C18 pipette tip rapidly and directly eluted to form electrospray ionization for mass spectrometric analysis. Using this novel technique, rapid detection of proteins from solutions containing salts such as sodium chloride or detergents such as SDS, and direct quantitation of ketamine and norketamine in human urine with a lower linear range 2-400 ng mL⁻¹, were successfully achieved. The linear range, precision, accuracy, LOD and LOQ for both ketamine and norketamine quantitation with this method were well acceptable for analysis of real samples. This method is very simple, easy to operate, cost-effective (the C18 pipette tip could be reused), and thus very useful for rapid analysis of complex samples. The C18 resin can also be replaced with other chromatographic materials and be used for other analytical purposes.

Chapter 4 Rapid Quantitation of Di-(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (DEHP) in Beverages by Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry Using Wooden Tips

4.1 Introduction



Figure 4-1 Chemical structures of DEHP and DINP.

In 2010, the clouding agent scandal happened in Taiwan alarmed the whole world. This incident originated from a plasticizer di-(2-ethylhexyl)-phthalate (DEHP, see Figure 4-1 for its chemical structure), which was illegally used as a clouding agent. Clouding agents are a kind of food additives used to make beverages naturally opaque and more like high juice products.^{146, 147} Palm oil is an important composition of clouding agents. Because DEHP could have clouding effect similar to palm oil, some beverage manufacturers in Taiwan illegally used DEHP to substitute the relatively expensive palm oil in clouding agents to reduce the production cost. The detection of high concentration of DEHP in many food and beverages made this clouding agent scandal shock the whole world.¹⁴⁷

DEHP, called DOP sometimes, is the most important plasticizer in the family of phthalic acid esters (PAEs).¹⁴⁸ PAEs are dialkyl or alkyl aryl esters of phthalic acid that are mainly used as plasticizers. In addition to DEHP, diisodecyl phthalate (DIDP), di-nbutyl phthalate (DBP) and dissononyl phthalate (DINP) (Figure 4-1) are also widely used. DEHP is a colorless and viscous organic liquid, which is almost insoluble in water, but miscible in mineral oil and some organic solvents. Because of its function of softening plastics and increasing plasticity, DEHP is commonly used to manufacture polyvinyl chloride (PVC) in plastic industry and its content in plastics can be up to 40% (w/w).^{149, 150} DEHP can be found in packaging, children's toys, medical devices, preservative film, flooring, agricultural adjuvants, building materials and some other plastic materials.¹⁵¹

DEHP is generally considered as a toxic compound. As far back as 1987, International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) concluded that DEHP was a potential carcinogen to humans.¹⁵² The DEHP-induced toxicities to kidney, liver, ovary, fetus, thyroid, testes and uterus of animals were demonstrated by various experimental data.^{153, 154} It was also reported that DEHP was a sex hormone endocrine disruptor¹⁵⁵ and could change the sexual differentiation of rat by affecting hormone synthesis.¹⁵⁶ As a widely existed contaminant in environment, DEHP has been strictly monitored for its concentrations in food for a very long time.^{151, 157, 158} Distinctly, DEHP was strictly forbidden to be used as a food additive in beverages and food, even for food-contact uses in some countries.^{159, 160}

87

Because there is no substantial covalent binding between DEHP (or other phthalates) and plastics, DEHP can slowly transfer to the contact materials and surrounding environment.^{151, 161} Since 1999, the European Union has banned the use of DEHP and other phthalates in children's toys and required that the total amount of phthalates should not be greater than 0.1% (w/w) of the plasticized part of the toy.¹⁶² Regarding the potential risk of DEHP for cancer, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) limited the MCL (maximum contaminant level allowed) of DEHP in drinking water at 6 ng mL⁻¹.¹⁶³ With the background of economic globalization, the DEHP scandal happened in Taiwan triggered the food safety crisis of the world. In June 2011, Hong Kong set the maximum threshold value of 1.5 μ g mL⁻¹ for DEHP in food or medication.¹⁶⁴

Gas chromatography-electron capture detection (GC-ECD), high performance liquid chromatography coupled with ultraviolet detector (HPLC-UV), gas chromatographymass spectrometry (GC-MS), and high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (HPLC-MS/MS) are the techniques of choice for analysis of DEHP. USEPA proposed extraction of DEHP from water samples with methylene chloride followed by measurements of the extracts using GC-ECD.¹⁶⁵ HPLC-UV has been used for analysis of DEHP in blood samples,^{166, 167} while GC-MS¹⁶⁸ and HPLC-MS/MS are the major methods for detection of DEHP in various samples, e.g., urine, water, air, toys, soil and food.^{63, 169, 170} After the DEHP scandal, the government of Taiwan published the method for detection of DEHP in food using HPLC-MS/MS.¹⁷¹ Sample extraction and clean-up (e.g., using gel permeation chromatography¹⁷²) as well as chromatographic separation are the typical procedures for detection of DEHP in samples by these methods. To meet the analytical demands of large volume of samples, simpler, faster and more economic methods are required.

Wooden-tip electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (ESI-MS) (Figure 4-2) is a novel technique developed by our group recently.⁶⁰ The disposable wooden tips used in this technique are commonly used wooden toothpicks, which are cheap, readily available, and directly compatible with the nano-electrospray ion source. A small volume (1-5 μ L) of sample solution could be loaded onto the sharp tip-end by pipetting directly. A period of successive ion signals could be acquired due to the spray ionization of sample solution at the tip-end induced by a high voltage. The instrumental setup of this technique is very simple and can be readily achieved in various mass spectrometers.



Figure 4-2 Schematic diagram of electrospray ionization with a wooden tip.

This new ionization technique was proved to be effective for analysis of various compounds, including organic compounds, peptides and proteins. Since the sample loading and ionization occurs on the tip surface and interactions of the tip surface with the sample allow reduction of matrix interferences, wooden-tip ESI-MS can be used to directly analyze raw samples, including slurry samples, urine, beverages, etc. In view of these merits and the analytical demand for detection of DEHP in beverages, quantitative analysis of DEHP in beverages using wooden-tip ESI-MS was conducted in this study, which also demonstrated the quantitative capability of this new method.

4.2 Experimental Section

4.2.1 Materials and Chemicals

Di-(2-ethylhexyl)-phthalate (DEHP) and the internal standard (IS) dissononyl phthalate (DINP) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. The BEST-buy brand wooden toothpicks used in this study were purchased from a PARKnSHOP supermarket in Hong Kong. Beverages, including Aquarius sports beverage and Mr. Juicy orange juice, were purchased from a PARKnSHOP supermarket in Hong Kong as well. Water was prepared using a Milli-Q system (Millipore, USA). All the other solvents were of HPLC grade and purchased from Tedia (Fairfeild).

4.2.2 Sample Preparation

Stock solutions of DEHP (analyte) and DINP (IS) were prepared as 1mg/mL in ethanol containing 0.1% formic acid and stored at -20 °C before use. Working solutions of DEHP in various concentrations, i.e., 0.25, 0.5, 2.5, 5, 10, 25, 50, 100 μ g mL⁻¹, were prepared by diluting the DEHP stock solution with ethanol containing 0.1% formic acid. The beverage solutions used for analysis were obtained by mixing beverage and the standard solution in a volume ratio of 1 : 2 firstly, and then 1 mL of each mixture solution was spiked with 20 μ L of DINP stock solution.

4.2.3 Instrumentation and Setup

The length of the wooden tips used for the study was ~10 mm. The distance between the wooden tip and the MS inlet was ~8 mm (Figure 4-2). Two μ L of each sample solution was loaded onto a fixed position of the wooden tip that was close to the sharp tip-end. Each sample was analyzed three times and the wooden tip was rinsed with enough ethanol before each analysis.

All spectra were acquired in positive ion mode on a Quattro Ultima mass spectrometer (Waters). Selected reaction monitoring (SRM) was operated with the following conditions: capillary voltage 3.5 kV, cone voltage 30 V, collision energy 18 eV, collision cell pirani 5.27×10^{-4} mbar. The selected reaction m/z 391 \rightarrow 149 for DEHP quantitation was monitored with a collision energy of 18 eV and a dwelling time of 0.2 s. The selected reaction $m/z 419 \rightarrow 149$ for internal standard DINP was monitored with a collision energy of 18 eV and a dwelling time of 0.2 s. Data acquisition and processing were performed using Masslynx 4.1 software (Waters, UK).

4.3 Results and Discussion

4.3.1 DEHP Quantitation

In order to minimize the experimental errors, DINP, which has a similar chemical structure with DEHP, was chosen as the internal standard and spiked into the samples. SRM scan was used to eliminate the influences from the matrix in the beverages and enhance the selectivity and sensitivity of the detection. Both DEHP and DINP are soluble in ethanol, but not soluble in water. The MS/MS spectra of protonated molecules of DEHP and DINP, obtained using wooden-tip ESI-MS/MS with 1 μ g/mL DEHP spiked with internal standard DINP are shown in Figure 4-3. The potential structures of major product ions in the spectra were labeled according to previous reports.^{173, 174} Product ions m/z 149, 167, 279 were observed for DEHP, and product ions m/z 149, 275, 293 were observed for DINP. Ion m/z 149, the product ion with the highest signal intensity, was selected for SRM detection of both DEHP and DINP, along with precursor ions m/z 391 and m/z 419 for the two compounds respectively.



Figure 4-3 The MS/MS spectra of $[M+H]^+$ of DEHP (*m*/*z* 391) (a) and DINP (*m*/*z* 419) (b).

The SRM chromatograms of DEHP (m/z 391 > m/z 149) and DINP (m/z 419 > m/z 149) are shown in Figure 4-4. After smoothing and peak integration using the Masslynx software, the peak area ratio of DEHP to internal standard DINP was calculated and found to have a good linear relationship against the concentration of DEHP, and the results were very reproducible.





94



DEHP concentration in Aquarius sports beverage ($\mu g \ mL^{-1}$)



DEHP Concentration in Aquarius sports beverage ($\mu g \ mL^{-1}$)

To be continued...



DEHP concentration in Mr Juicy orange fruit beverage (µg mL-1)



DEHP concentration in Mr Juicy orange fruit beverage (µg mL-1)

Figure 4-5 Quantitative analysis of DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage and Mr. Juicy orange juice using wooden-tip ESI-MS (with internal standard). (**a**) Standard calibration curve for DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage. (**b**) Accuracy and precision (n=6 replicates at 9 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹ and 150 μ g mL⁻¹) for DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage. (**c**) Standard calibration curve for DEHP in Mr. Juicy orange juice. (**d**) Accuracy and precision (n=6 replicates at 9 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹ mMr. Juicy orange juice. (**d**) Accuracy and precision (n=6 replicates at 9 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹) for DEHP in Mr. Juicy orange juice. (**d**) Accuracy and precision (n=6 replicates at 9 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹ and 150 μ g mL⁻¹) for DEHP in Mr. Juicy orange juice.

Table 4-1 Experimental data for determination of accuracy and precision of the woodentip ESI-MS in quantitation of DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage and Mr. Juicy orange juice (using DINP as the internal standard).

	Aquarius sports beverage			Mr. Juicy orange juice			
Spiked	Measured	Accuracy	Precision	Measured	Accuracy	Precision	
concentration	concentration	(n=6)	(n=6)	concentration	(n=6)	(n=6)	
(µg mL ⁻¹)	(µg mL ⁻¹)			(µg mL ⁻¹)			
9	8.5	94.9%	4.6%	9.9	109.8%	3.5%	
60	59.6	99.3%	5.4%	58.7	97.9%	4.7%	
150	144.6	96.4%	7.4%	150.3	100.2%	5.5%	

The peak area ratio of DEHP to DINP was plotted against the DEHP concentration and linear calibration curves over the concentration range of 0.5-200 μ g/mL for both beverage samples were obtained (Figure 4-5a and 4-5c). The correlation coefficients (R²) for both curves were better than 0.99. According to the standards of the US Food and Drug Administration, the accuracy and precision should be less than 15% for bioanalytical method validation.¹⁷⁵ To investigate the accuracy and precision of the method, the sports and orange beverage samples were spiked with DEHP in 9, 60, 150 μ g mL⁻¹, representative of low, medium, and high concentration ranges respectively, and were measured with the wooden-tip ESI-MS method. The measured concentrations were all within 100 ± 9.8% of the spiked concentrations and the relative standard deviations (RSD) of the peak area ratio of DEHP to DINP at all examined concentrations were less than 7.4% (Figure 4-5b, 4-5d and Table 4-1), indicating that the accuracy and precision of this method were well acceptable.



DEHP concentration in Mr Juicy orange fruit beverage (µg mL⁻¹)

Figure 4-6 Quantitative analysis of DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage and Mr. Juicy orange juice using wooden-tip ESI-MS without internal standard). (**a**) Standard calibration curve for DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage. (**b**) Standard calibration curve for DEHP in Mr. Juicy orange juice.

Chapter 4

4.3.2 Effect of The Internal Standard

DINP was chosen as the internal standard for analysis of DEHP because it has a chemical structure and properties similar with DEHP. The internal standard was used to reduce the errors coming from variations in sample processing, sample loading and MS responses during the experiments. With the use of DINP as the internal standard, the accuracy and precision obtained for DEHP in this assay were within well acceptable levels. If the internal standard was not incorporated for the measurement and the peak area of DEHP was directly used for plotting against the concentration of DEHP, the obtained calibration curves are shown in Figure 4-6. Linear relationship could also be achieved for the two beverages over the examined concentrations (0.5-200 µg/mL), however, with a correlation coefficient of 0.9976 and 0.961 respectively. The accuracy measured using the three concentrations (9 μ g mL⁻¹, 60 μ g mL⁻¹ and 150 μ g mL⁻¹) was in the range of 86.7-112.8% and the precision was in the range of 8.9-14% (Table 4-2), which were still acceptable for the analysis. These results demonstrated that the use of internal standard could improve the quantitation, and sometimes may not be necessary, particularly for rapid detection and when no suitable internal standard is available.

Table 4-2 Experimental data for determination of accuracy and precision of the woodentip ESI-MS in quantitation of DEHP in Aquarius sports beverage and Mr. Juicy orange juice (without internal standard).

	Aquarius sports beverage			Mr. Juicy orange juice		
Spiked	Measured	Accuracy	Precision	Measured	Accuracy	Precision
concentration	concentration	(n=6)	(n=6)	concentration	(n=6)	(n=6)
(µg mL ⁻¹)	$(\mu g m L^{-1})$			(µg mL ⁻¹)		
9	8.2	91.1%	10.0%	7.8	86.7%	9.8%
60	65.3	108.8 %	8.9%	67.7	112.8%	14.0%
150	141.3	94.2%	11.4%	139.5	93.0%	10.1%

4.3.3 Limit of Detection and Limit of Quantitation

A TIC peak could be observed even a blank sample, e.g., solvent only, was loaded onto the wooden tip. Such ion signals might arise from the background and electronic noises. In this study, LOD and LOQ were defined as the DEHP concentration that could achieved three and ten times peak area ratio (DEHP/DINP) of the blank sample respectively. As shown in Figure 4-7, the LOD and LOQ were determined to be 0.25 μ g mL⁻¹ and 0.5 μ g mL⁻¹ respectively for the fruit beverage, and 0.25 μ g mL⁻¹ and 0.5 μ g mL⁻¹ respectively for the sports beverage.



Figure 4-7 SRM chromatograms for the LOD and LOQ determination of the sports beverage and fruit beverage.

4.4 Conclusions

Quality control of beverage is of importance to public health, especially after the DEHP scandal. The growing public concern over tainted food requires methods for fast screening of DEHP or other related contamination compounds in various samples. Herein, a rapid and simple method for quantitative assay of DEHP in beverages was developed. With the use of DINP as the internal standard, the calibration curve showed well acceptable accuracy (94.9-109.8%) and precision (3.5-7.4%). The linear range was 0.5-200 μ g/ml with the square regression coefficient (R²) better than 0.99. The LOD and LOQ were 0.25 μ g mL⁻¹ and 0.5 μ g mL⁻¹ respectively for the two beverages

investigated. This technique can also be used for analysis of other similar compounds for food and beverage safety in the future.

Chapter 5 Investigation of Membrane Proteins by Extractive Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry

5.1 Introduction

Membrane proteins are proteins that are attached to or associated with the membrane of a biological cell or organelle. Integral and peripheral membrane proteins are two different kinds of membrane proteins. Integral membrane proteins are permanently attached to the membrane and could be separated from the membranes using detergents or nonpolar solvents; Peripheral membrane proteins are temporarily attached either to the membrane or to intergral proteins and could be dissociated in polar reagents. It was estimated that about 25% of the human proteins were membrane proteins.¹⁷⁶ Membrane proteins play a key role in mediating the interactions of the cell with the surroundings, e.g., ensuring the stability of the cell, allowing cells to identify and interact with each other, mediating cellular responses upon binding of ligands, performing movements of substrates across membranes by utilizing electrochemical gradients or energy from chemical reactions, and catalyzing chemical reactions.¹⁷⁷⁻¹⁸⁰ Many diseases, e.g., epilepsy, cataract, lungedema, hyperinsulinemia, congestive heart failure, livercirrhosis, nephrogenic diabetes insipidus and cystic fibrosis, are related to membrane proteins.¹⁸¹⁻ ¹⁸³ Membrane proteins are the most popular targets of drugs.¹⁸⁴ It was estimated that about 80% of the detected drug targets belonged to membrane protein family.¹⁸⁵

For studies of membrane proteins, the major difficulties come from the poor solubility of membrane proteins in aqueous solutions due to the hydrophobicity of membrane proteins. Detergents, which are partly hydrophilic (polar) and partly hydrophobic (non-polar), are commonly used to solubilize, extract and purify membrane proteins.¹³² According to their chemical properties, detergents can be divided into two types: ionic

detergents and nonionic detergents. Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) is the most proteomics.¹³² commonly used ionic detergent in 3-[(3and cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate (CHAPS) is another commonly used ionic detergent. n-dodecyl β-D-maltoside (DDM), n-octyl-β-Dglucoside (OG) and Triton X-100 are commonly used nonionic detergents.¹³² MS is a powerful technique for investigation of proteins. However, the presence of detergents can cause shape distortion of protein signals,¹⁸⁶ adduct formation and signal suppression for MS analysis. Removal of detergents using techniques typically involving extraction or chromatography separation is thus required prior to MS analysis and such removal is usually complicated and time-consuming.^{130, 131, 187} One of our research efforts was to develop mass spectrometric techniques for direct analysis of membrane proteins. In our previous study, we attempted to use C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS for analysis of membrane protein samples containing detergents, as described in chapter 3. In this chapter, our new efforts in this respect will be presented.



Figure 5-1 Schematic diagram of EESI-MS.⁵¹

Extractive electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (EESI-MS) is a new technique that allows direct analysis of analytes, including proteins, in complex samples, e.g., milk, urine, saliva and polluted water.^{51, 64} In EESI-MS, there are two separate sprayers: one sprayer to nebulize the sample solution without application of a high voltage and the other one to produce charged microdroplets of solvent in a way similar to conventional ESI sprayer (Figure 5-1). The compounds of interest in the sample solution can be extracted from the plume of the sample solution by the charged solvent droplets. EESI could thus be considered as an ESI technique combined with extraction.

Herein, EESI-MS was attempted for direct analysis of membrane proteins in the presence of detergents for the first time. The lab-made EESI ion source, which was stable and adjustable, was successfully coupled with a Q-ToF mass spectrometer (Figure 5-2). Our results showed that compared to ESI-MS, EESI-MS was much more tolerant to some detergents and could be used to directly analyze membrane proteins in the presence of high concentrations of those detergents.



Figure 5-2 Photo of the lab-made EESI ion source installed on a Q-TOF mass spectrometer (sprayer A is the solvent spray connected a high voltage and sprayer B is the neutral spray of sample solution).

5.2 Experimental Section

5.2.1 Materials and Chemicals

Membrane protein α-Lactalbumin and detergents DDM, OG, Triton X-100, SDS and CHAPS were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and used without further purification. Water was distilled water prepared using a Milli-Q system (Millipore, USA). All the other solvents were of HPLC grade and purchased from Tedia (Fairfeild).

5.2.2 Sample Preparation

 α -Lactalbumin was dissolved in 50% methanol (containing 0.1% formic acid) at a concentration of 5.0 μ M with different concentrations of DDM (0.2, 2, 20, 50 mM) or other detergents, and infused into sprayer B as sample solution for EESI-MS analysis or directly used for ESI-MS analysis using a syringe pump (Harvard Pump 11 Plus). Solvents were delivered into sprayer A of the EESI ion source by another syringe pump to generate charged droplets of solvents with application of the applied high voltage.

5.2.3 Instrumentation and Setup



Figure 5-3 Photo of the optimized alignment of the EESI ion source for direct analysis of α -lactalbumin with detergents (the angle between sprayer A and sprayer B was 60°, the distance between the tips of two sprayers was 40 mm and the distance between the tips of sprayer A to MS inlet was 2 cm).

All mass spectra were acquired in positive ion mode using a Q-TOF mass spectrometer (QStar Pulsar, Applied Biosystems) fitted with a lab-made EESI ion source. As shown in Figure 5-2, the EESI ion source has two sprayer, spray A and spray B, both of which are adjustable for accurate movement of going up, down, left, right, ahead and back. After optimization of the ion source setup, the detailed position of each sprayer could be identified by the scale and reproducibly used for subsequent analysis. The high voltage

of sprayer A was provided by the power supply of the QSTAR mass spectrometer. The angles and distances between the two sprayers of the EESI ion source were adjusted as shown in Figure 5-3 to get optimum signals. Parameter settings of the mass spectrometer are as follows: curtain gas (CUR) 25, ion source gas 1 (GS1, connected with sprayer A) 25 A. U., ion source gas 2 (GS2, connected with sprayer B) 30 A. U., ion spray voltage (IS) 5500 kV.

5.3 Results and discussion

5.3.1 Optimization of Extraction Solvent

The major advantage of EESI is that during the desorption/ionization process, specific analyte in a complex sample selectively ionized by using extraction solvents.⁶⁴ The choice of suitable extraction solvents is thus crucial for the analysis. In this study, the extraction solvents were optimized firstly using α -lactalbumin, a typical membrane protein, along with DDM, a nonionic detergent, as the model sample.

Chapter 5



To be continued...



Figure 5-4 EESI-MS spectra of α -lactalbumin (5.0 μ M in MeOH/H₂O/FA, 50/50/0.1, v/v/v) in the presence of 0.2 mM DDM obtained with various solvents (each containing 1% FA) as the extraction solvents.

Figure 5-4 showed the EESI-MS spectra of 5.0 μ M α -lactalbumin in MeOH/H₂O/FA (50/50/0.1, v/v/v) in the presence of 0.2 mM DDM. The peaks detected at *m/z* 1576.2 (+ 9), 1772.1 (+ 8) and 2026.3 (+ 7) corresponded to the multiply charged ions of α -lactalbumin. DDM were detected at *m/z* 533.3 ([M+Na]⁺). In order to increase the relative intensity of the membrane protein and reduce the relative intensity of DDM, different kinds of solvents (each containing 1% FA) were employed as the extraction solvents to improve the extraction efficiency of the membrane protein in EESI-MS. As shown in Figure 5-4, quality spectra were obtained when isopropanol, methanol and water were used as the extraction solvents, indicating better extraction and ionization efficiencies of these solvents for the membrane protein. No significant signals were observed when chloroform, hexane and acetic ester were used as the extraction solvents, probably due to their poor ionization efficiencies.

Figure 5-5 shows the spectra obtained using methanol mixed with different portions of water as the extraction solvents. No significant spectral difference was observed when the water ratio in the solvent was increased from 0% to 100%. So 50% methanol (1% FA), a solvent commonly used in ESI-MS analysis, was employed as the extraction solvent in this study.



Figure 5-5 Spectra obtained by EESI-MS analysis of α -lactalbumin solution (5.0 μ M in MeOH/H₂O/FA, 50/50/0.1, v/v/v) containing 0.2 mM DDM using methanol with different portions of water as the extraction solvents (each containing 1% FA).

5.3.2 Tolerance of EESI-MS to Different Kinds of Detergents

The tolerance of EESI-MS to detergents for analysis of membrane proteins was examined by comparing that of conventional ESI-MS. a-Lactalbumin with nonionic detergent DDM was tseted firstly. As shown in Figure 5-6, a-lactalbumin with different concentrations of DDM was analyzed by both ESI-MS and EESI-MS for comparison. For EESI-MS, 5.0 μ M α -lactalbumin in MeOH/H₂O/FA (50/50/0.1, v/v/v) with different concentration of DDM (0.2, 2, 20, 50 mM) was delivered into a sprayer, and 50% methanol containing 1% FA, the optimized spray solvent system, was infused into another sprayer under the application of a high voltage. Comparing the acquired mass spectra, the multiply charged ions of α -lactalbumin could be detected with both conventional ESI-MS and EESI-MS in the presence of 0.2 mM DDM. When the DDM concentration was higher than 0.2 mM, the multiply charge ions of α -lactalbumin could only be detected with EESI-MS but not ESI-MS. These results demonstrated that EESI-MS was much more tolerant to DDM than ESI-MS and allowed direct analysis of the membrane protein samples containing high concentrations of detergents. Using EESI-MS, the time-consuming and laborious procedures for removal of detergents and the sample loss thus caused could be avoided.

Tolerance of EESI-MS to another commonly used nonionic detergent, octyl glucoside (OG), was investigated by comparison with ESI-MS, and the spectra obtained are shown in Figure 5-7. In addition to the multiply charged ions of α -lactalbumin, cluster ions of OG were also observed at m/z 310 ([M+NH₄]⁺), 315 ([M+Na]⁺), 602 ([2M+NH₄]⁺), 607 ([2M+Na]⁺), 1187 ([4M+NH₄]⁺), 1479 ([5M+NH₄]⁺) and 1772 ([6M+NH₄]⁺). Similar to
the investigation of DDM, the spraying solvent for OG analysis with EESI-MS was optimized, and finally 80% methanol (1% FA) was employed as the spray solvent. As shown in Figure 5-7, in the presence of 2.5 mM OG, the protein signals were more obvious to be detected with EESI-MS than ESI-MS. When the concentration of OG was higher than 2.5 mM, i.e., 12.5, 25 and 50 mM, only the OG cluster ions but no protein signals could be observed in the ESI-MS spectra; while in the EESI-MS spectra, the protein signals could still be significantly detected. These results revealed that EESI-MS was much more tolerant to OG than ESI-MS.

Other nonionic detergents, including Triton X-100 and tween-20, were also examined with 50% methanol (1% FA) as the extraction solvent for EESI-MS. As shown in Figures 5-8 and 5-9, EESI-MS showed better tolerance to both of these two nonionic detergents than ESI-MS for analysis of α -lactalbumin.



Figure 5-6 Mass spectra of 5.0 μ M α -lactalbumin solution in the presence of different concentrations of DDM (0.2, 2, 20 and 50 mM) obtained by EESI-MS and ESI-MS.



Figure 5-7 Mass spectra of 5.0 μ M α -lactalbumin in the presence of different concentrations of OG (2.5, 12.5, 25 and 50 mM) obtained by EESI-MS and ESI-MS.



Figure 5-8 Mass spectra of 5.0 μ M α -lactalbumin in the presence of 10 mM Triton X-100 obtained by EESI-MS and ESI-MS.



Figure 5-9 Mass spectra of 5.0 μ M α -lactalbumin in the presence of 10 mM tween-20 obtained by EESI-MS and ESI-MS.

Chapter 5



Figure 5-10 Mass spectra of 5 μ M α -lactalbumin in the presence of 1.0 mM SDS obtained by EESI-MS and ESI-MS.

121



Figure 5-11 Mass spectra of 5 μ M α -lactalbumin in the presence of 1.0 mM CHAPS obtained by EESI-MS and ESI-MS.

Tolerance of EESI-MS to two ionic detergents, i.e., sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) and 3-[(3-cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate (CHAPS), were examined as well, in comparison with that of ESI-MS. 50% methanol (1% F.A.) was used as the extraction solvent of EESI-MS for both detergents. As shown in Figure 5-10 and 5-11, no protein signals were observed in both EESI-MS and ESI-MS for the two ionic detergents even when the detergent concentration was only 1.0 mM. Similar results were obtained when methanol mixed with different portions of water (20% and 80% methanol), other hydrophilic or hydrophobic solvents (each containing 1% FA) were used as the extraction solvents. These results indicated that EESI was not tolerant to ionic detergents as to nonionic detergents. This might be due to the differences in chemical and physical properties, including the ionization efficiency, solubility and polarity, between the nonionic detergents and ionic detergents. The tolerance of EESI-MS to nonionic detergents might originate from the extractive spraying solvent that could extract and ionize the membrane protein from the sample solution containing the nonionic detergents. In the case of ionic detergents, the ionic detergents had high ionization efficiencies and were difficult to be ruled out from the extraction, and were thus predominately observed in the spectra.

5.4 Conclusions

An adjustable and stable EESI ion source was constructed and coupled with a QSTAR mass spectrometer for analysis of membrane proteins in the presence of detergents in this study. α -Lactalbumin, along with nonionic and ionic detergents, two major kinds of detergents, were investigated, and the mass spectra obtained were compared with those obtained by conventional ESI-MS. The results revealed that EESI-MS was much tolerant to nonionic detergents than conventional ESI-MS for analysis of α -lactalbumin. However, no improvement in tolerance to ionic detergents was observed with EESI-MS as compared to ESI-MS.

Chapter 6 An Investigation of Interactions Between Analytes and Matrices during the Matrix-assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization Process

6.1 Introduction

Although MALDI has been widely used for more than twenty years, its ionization mechanism is not yet fully understood.^{188, 189} Many models have been proposed,^{38, 39, 41, 42, 44, 190, 191} and there are two major ones for the explanation of the MALDI ionization process: the gas phase protonation model and the cluster model, which have been introduced in the introduction part of this thesis. These two ionization models have a similar photoionization process for matrix molecules as the initial step, but have a different second step for ionization of analyte molecules, which could be described by the following equations (Eqs. 6-1 and 6-2) respectively:

Gas phase model:
$$A \xrightarrow{MH^+} M + AH^+$$
 (6-1)

Cluster model:
$$AH_n^{n+} + nX^- \xrightarrow{MH^+} AH^+ + nHX$$
 (6-2)

where A represents analyte molecule, M represents matrix molecule and X⁻ represents a counterion of the analyte ion. As shown in the two equations, the major difference is the origin of the proton for protonation of analyte. In the gas phase protonation model, this proton is transferred to analyte from matrix molecule, while in the cluster ionization model, this proton is from the pre-charged analyte crystals. Very recently, an investigation on the protonation mechanism of analyte was conducted by Karas *et al.* using CHCA-*tert*-butylester-d₉ (see Figure 6-1 for the structure), a deuterated CHCA ester, as the matrix.^{43, 192} This deuterated matix yielded deuteronated ester [CHCA-*tert*-butylester-d₉ + D]⁺ and fragment [CHCA-COOD + D]⁺ in its MALDI-MS spectrum (Figure 6-1). The deuteron in these ions could be transferred to the analyte molecule to

form AD^+ in the gas phase protonation model or to neutralize the counterion to form DX (Eqs. 6-3 and 6-4):

Gas phase model:
$$A \xrightarrow{MD^+} M + AD^+$$
 (6-3)

Cluster model:
$$AH_n^{n+} + nX^- \xrightarrow{MD^+} AH^+ + DX + (n-1)HX$$
 (6-4)

Their results revealed that both the deuteronated analyte ion in the gas phase protonation model and the protonated analyte ion in the cluster ionization model could be detected and thus demonstrated that both models could be applied to the MALDI ionization process. The ratio of the products from the two models was found to be related to experiment conditions such as laser fluence and natures of analyte and matrix.



Figure 6-1 The chemical structure of CHCA-*tert*-butylester-d₉ and its MALDI-MS spectrum.⁴³

In addition to protonation and neutralization, does matrix have any further interactions with or effects to analyte? There are very few literatures in this respect. In this study, deuterium-labeled matrix and/or analyte were prepared and used to investigate the molecular interactions during the MALDI process. OASP³⁷ was employed as the sample preparation for the investigation since this technique allowed convenient analysis of solid samples without any use of solvents and thus avoided the back exchange of deuterium caused by the solvents. Our results revealed that in addition to protonation and neutralization, matrix molecules offered hydrogens to exchange with active hydrogens on analytes. The ionization process related to this was discussed in this study as well.

6.2 Experimental Section

6.2.1 Materials and Chemicals

CHCA was purchased from Fluka. Paraffin oil, Methanol-d and all other chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Water was distilled water prepared using a Milli-Q system (Millipore, USA). All the other solvents were of HPLC grade and purchased from Tedia (Fairfeild).

6.2.2 Preparation of Deuterated Samples

Fifty mg of CHCA was dissolved in 25 mL methanol-d for hydrogen/deuterium exchange (HDX) at room temperature and subsequently blow-dried with nitrogen to generate deuterated CHCA powder. This deuterated CHCA powder was analyzed with OASP-MALDI-MS to measure the number of deuterons incorporated (D). As shown in

Figure 6-2, D was calculated by subtracting the centroid of the undeuterated peaks $(C_{undeuterated})$ from the centroid of the deuterated peaks $(C_{deuterated})$. Deuteration ratio (DR) was obtained by dividing D by the total number of active protons in the sample molecule.



Figure 6-2 Schematic diagram for determination of the D value

To achieve a higher DR value for CHCA, the HDX procedures were repeated for CHCA. The deuterated CHCA was measured each time and the spectral results are shown in Figure 6-3. After repeating the HDX experiment three times, the DR value of CHCA was kept at about 80%. Full deuteration of active hydrogens of CHCA could not be achieved probably due to the back exchange of the incorporated deuteron with the environment moisture during the processing.¹⁹³ Deuterated melamine was prepared with procedures similar to CHCA. Confirmation of deuterated melamine was made by direct analysis of deuterated melamine in methanol-d using ESI-MS on a Q-ToF mass

spectrometer. As shown in Figure 6-4, the number of deuterons incorporated (D) was determined to be 5.5, equaling to a DR value of 78.7%.

Each D value and DR value in this part were obtained by averaging the data from three repeat experiments. The RSD was less than 15% in each case.



Figure 6-3 OASP-MALDI mass spectra of CHCA with different exchange times.



Figure 6-4 MALDI-MS mass spectrum of undeuterated melamine and ESI-MS spectrum of deuterated melamine.

6.2.3 Sample Preparation for MALDI-MS Analysis

CHCA solution was prepared using 10 mg of CHCA dissolved in 1 mL methanol containing 0.1% TFA. For the DD method, sample solution was mixed with the matrix solution at a volume ratio of 1 : 1, and 1 μ L of the mixture was loaded on the target and dried prior to MALDI-MS analysis.

For the OASP method, the sample was prepared as described previously.³⁷ Briefly, a droplet of paraffin oil was deposited on a sample well of the MALDI plate to form a thin oil layer. Then a minimal amount of matrix powder and an approximately equal amount of sample powder were transferred onto the thin oil layer, and mixed together using a microspatula to form a visual homogeneity for subsequent MALDI-MS analysis.

For experiments involving sodium adducts, appropriate amounts of sodium chloride were added to the solutions (DD method) or powders (OASP method) to obtain abundant sodium adduct peaks of the analyte molecules under examination.

6.2.4 Instrumentation

MALDI mass spectra were acquired using a MALDI-ToF mass spectrometer (MALDI Micro MX, Waters) equipped with a nitrogen UV laser (wavelength 337 nm). The MALDI-ToF mass spectrometer was operated in positive reflectron mode with the following settings: flight tube voltage 12 kV, reflectron voltage 5.2 kV and TLF delay 500 ns. The mass spectrometer was calibrated with CHCA and polyethylene glycol 600-2000 for lower mass range (100-1000) and higher mass range (600-2000) respectively.

6.3 Results and Discussion

6.3.1 Hydrogen Exchange Between Matrix and Analyte in MALDI-MS

Melamine (see structure in Figure 6-5) has three amino groups and six active hydrogens. By comparison with the spectra obtained using deuterated and undeuterated CHCA respectively, it was found that 3.6 deutrons were incorporated into the deuterated melamine, i.e., $[M+D]^+$, when the deuterated CHCA was used as the matrix (Figure 6-5). This result indicated that in addition to the 0.8 deutrons (deuterated CHCA was 80% labeled) added to melamine due to the deuteronation, 2.8 more deutrons were incorporated into melamine. A reasonable explanation for this was that the active hydrogens of melamine exchanged with deuterons produced from the deuterated CHCA.



Figure 6-5 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of melamine with undeuterated CHCA and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively.

To further confirm the exchange of active hydrogens between analyte and matrix, deuterated melamine was prepared and analyzed using OASP-MALDI-MS with undeuterated CHCA as the matrix. As shown in Figure 6-6, almost no deuteron was retained on the detected molecular ion of melamine, indicating that the active deuterons previously on the deuterated melamine were almost totally replaced by hydrogens from CHCA.



Figure 6-6 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of melamine and deuterated melamine with undeuterated CHCA as the matrix.

To further confirm that such exchange only occurs with active hydrogens of analytes, betaine, a compound containing no active hydrogen, was analyzed using OASP-MALDI-MS with deuterated CHCA as the matrix. As shown in Figure 6-7, no deuterium was found in the sodium adduct of betaine when deuterated CHCA was used as the matrix (Table 6-1), indicating that stable hydrogens was not involved in the hydrogen exchange.

Similar results were obtained when DHB was used as the matrix. These results revealed that active hydrogens on analytes were replaced by hydrogens generated by the matrix during the MALDI process. This phenomenon has not yet been reported. The OASP method allowed convenient MALDI-MS analysis of sample powder and matrix powder without any use of solvents. The deuterons could thus be retained during the analysis and the hydrogen exchange between analyte and matrix could be observed. Since the sample and matrix were both in solid phase and the parafilm oil was inert hydrocarbon oil, the hydrogen exchange between analyte and matrix should occur in the gas phase.



Figure 6-7 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of betaine obtained with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively.

6.3.2 Hydrogen Exchange of Various Compounds

Table 6-1 D and	DR	values	of	various	compounds	obtained	using	OASP-N	MALDI-MS
and deuterated C	HCA	as the	ma	trix.					

Analyte	Functional group	Chemical structure	D	DR
	for active hydrogen			
N,N-Dimethylglycine	carboxyl	N OH	0.49	49%
(+)-Diethyl L-tartrate	hydroxyl		0.82	41%
Sinapic acid	carboxyl and hydroxyl	H ₃ CO HO OCH ₃	0.85	43%
Ac-Ala-OMe	amide	NH O	0.11	11%
Ac-Leu-OMe	amide		0.10	10%
Ketamine	amino		0.38	38%
H-Ala-OMe	amino	H ₂ N O	0.80	40%
Betaine	no active hydrogen	N+ O-	0	0

To further investigate the hydrogen exchange between analyte and matrix, compounds with various kinds of active hydrogens were analyzed with OASP-MALDI-MS using deuterated CHCA as the matrix. To eliminate the interference of protonation (or deuteration), the sodium adducts of these compounds were used for calculation of the D value and DR value, and the results are shown in Table 6-1 (mass spectra in Figures. 6-8 - 6-14).

The extent of hydrogen exchange, which could be evaluated by the DR value, was significantly related to the functional group. As shown in Table 6-1, amide hydrogen had the lowest exchange ratio. Hydroxyl hydrogen and amino hydrogen had similar exchange ratios that were higher than amide hydrogen. The exchange ratio for carboxyl hydrogen was the highest among all the active hydrogens investigated. This exchange tendency could also be observed when all these compounds were mixed equally and analyzed with deuterated CHCA in a single experiment. More active hydrogens in the compounds did not affect the exchange tendency. Such exchange tendency was consistent with the basicity of these functional groups and the previous results for gas-phase hydrogen/deuterium exchange.^{194 195, 196 197 198}



Figure 6-8 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of N,N-dimethylglycine obtained with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively.



Figure 6-9 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of (+)-diethyl L-tartrate with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively.



Figure 6-10 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of sinapic acid with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively.



Figure 6-11 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of Ac-Ala-OMe with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively.



Figure 6-12 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of Ac-Leu-OMe with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively.



Figure 6-13 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of ketamine with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively.



Figure 6-14 OASP–MALDI-MS spectra of H-Ala-OMe with undeuterated and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively.

6.3.3 Effect of Peptide Structure on The Hydrogen Exchange

Hydrogen exchange mass spectrometry is a powerful technique for study of conformations of proteins and peptides.^{198, 199} In such investigation, the hydrogen exchange could be carried out in solution phase,¹⁹⁹⁻²⁰² or in gas-phase,^{196, 203-205} and the samples used for study are normally in solution form. The observation of hydrogen exchange between matrix and analyte in OASP-MALDI-MS inspired us to further investigate the effect of peptide structure on the hydrogen exchange and the possibility of using this technique for studying peptide structures with solid samples. The primary results are presented here.

Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly is a linear peptide with four amide hydrogens, two amino hydrogens and one carboxyl hydrogen (see Figure 6-15 for its structure). Comparing with the spectrum obtained with undeuterated CHCA as the matrix, it could be found

that 2.2 deutrons were incorporated into the sodiated molecular ion of this peptide (Figure 6-15) when deuterated CHCA was used as the matrix, corresponding to a DR value of 31%. A similar DR value was obtained for another peptide H-His-Leu-Leu-Val-Phe-OMe, as shown in Figure 6-16.

Figure 6-17 is the OASP-MALDI-MS spectra obtained with gramicidin D as the sample. Gramicidin D is a mixture of gramicidin A, B and C, with gramicidin A is the major component. Gramicidin A is a hydrophobic and compact pentadecapeptide with active hydrogens that are difficult to be accessed by solvents or deuterium reagents.²⁰⁶⁻²¹¹ As shown in Fig. 6-17, no deuterium was incorporated into gramicidin A when deuterated CHCA was used as the matrix.

The above results showed that the active hydrogens of the loosened peptides Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly and H-His-Leu-Leu-Val-Phe-OMe could have hydrogen exchange with deuterated CHCA during the MALDI process, while such hydrogen exchange was not observed with gramicidin A due to its compact structure. Because no solvent was used in this process and the application of paraffin oil could isolate sample from air and moisture, so back-exchange could be neglected. These results suggested that this technique could be used to explore the conformations of peptides and proteins. Comparing with conventional HDX, this technique is rather simple. Further development and application of this technique is being undertaken.



Figure 6-15 OASP-MALDI-MS spectra of Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly with CHCA and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively.



Figure 6-16 OASP-MALDI-MS spectra of H-His-Leu-Leu-Val-Phe-OMe with CHCA and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively.



Figure 6-17 OASP-MALDI-MS spectra of gramicidin A with CHCA and deuterated CHCA as the matrix respectively.

6.3.4 Indication to the MALDI ionization mechanism

Our results revealed that active hydrogens of analyte molecules could be replaced by hydrogens from matrix during the MALDI process. This replacement has not been involved in the models proposed for MALDI process. Our results suggest that during the MALDI process, when matrix absorbs energy from laser and becomes activated, active hydrogens of the matrix can be released to form free protons or hydrogen radicals, which can then exchange with active hydrogens on the analyte molecules during the desorption and ionization process.

Chapter 6

6.4 Conclusions

Our results revealed that active hydrogens of analyte molecules were replaced by hydrogens from matrix. Among the active hydrogens from carboxyl, hydroxyl, amino, and amide, amide hydrogen has the lowest exchange ratio. Investigation with different peptides indicated that such hydrogen exchange was structure-dependent and might be used to explore conformations of peptides and proteins. The observation of hydrogen exchange between analye and matrix allowed us to get more insights into the molecular interactions during the MALDI process.

Summary

Summary

The research in thesis involves development of ESI-MS-based techniques for direct analysis of complex samples and investigation of ionization mechanism of MALDI-MS.

We have developed pipette-tip ESI-MS for direct analysis of herbal powders, a significant form of samples. This novel technique is simple, easy to assemble and operate, and allows direct qualitative and quantitative analysis of various herbal powders. The pipette-tip ESI-MS was then further developed to C18 pipette-tip ESI-MS that allowed purification and enrichment of target compounds from complex sample solutions and subsequently direct ESI-MS analysis. We demonstrated that this technique could be used for analysis of protein solutions containing high contents of NaCl or SDS and for direct quantitation of ketamine and norketamine in human urine with a linear range to very low concentrations. The pipette-tip ESI-MS could be further extended and applied for direct analysis of other raw solid samples, e.g., tissue samples, and liquid samples, e.g., peptide mixture samples containing with salts and detergents. Furthermore, in this study, we developed wooden-tip ESI-MS for rapid detection and quantitation of plasticizer DEHP in beverages, and demonstrated that EESI-MS was more tolerant to nonionic detergents than ESI-MS for analysis of membrane proteins. These studies enabled direct analysis of the raw samples, and the related techniques are expected to play more important roles in the future.

In the final part of this thesis, with the use of deuterated matrix and analytes and by using OASP, a MALDI sample preparation method that allows convenient MALDI-MS analysis of analytes and matrix in their powder forms, we revealed that active hydrogens

Summary

of analyte molecules could be replaced by hydrogens from matrix during the MALDI process. This finding allowed us to get more insight into the molecular interactions during the MALDI process and may be used to explore conformations and structures of proteins and peptides in solid phase.

References

References

1. El-Aneed, A.; Cohen, A.; Banoub, J., Mass Spectrometry, Review of the Basics: Electrospray, MALDI, and Commonly Used Mass Analyzers. *Applied Spectroscopy Reviews* **2009**, *44*, 210-230.

Hoffmann, E.; Stroobant, V., *Mass Spectrometry: Principles and Applications*; 3rd ed.;
John Wiley & Sons: Chicester, England, 2007.

3. Yates Iii, J. R., A century of mass spectrometry: from atoms to proteomes. *Nature Methods* **2011**, *8*, 633-637.

4. Venter, A.; Nefliu, M.; Graham Cooks, R., Ambient desorption ionization mass spectrometry. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry* **2008**, *27*, 284-290.

5. Cooks, R. G.; Ouyang, Z.; Takats, Z.; Wiseman, J. M., Ambient Mass Spectrometry. *Science* **2006**, *311*, 1566-1570.

6. Yao, Z.P., Characterization of proteins by ambient mass spectrometry. *Mass Spectrometry Reviews* **2011**, 1-11.

7. Cody, R. B.; Laramée, J. A.; Durst, H. D., Versatile new ion source for the analysis of materials in open air under ambient conditions. *Analytical Chemistry* **2005**, 77, 2297-2302.

8. Takáts, Z.; Wiseman, J. M.; Gologan, B.; Cooks, R. G., Mass Spectrometry Sampling Under Ambient Conditions with Desorption Electrospray Ionization. *Science* **2004**, *306*, 471-473.

9. Nemes, P.; Vertes, A., Laser ablation electrospray ionization for atmospheric pressure, in vivo, and imaging mass spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry* **2007**, *79*, 8098-8106.

Grayson, M. A. *Measuring Mass: From Positve Rays to Proteins*; 2002 ed.;
Chemical Heritage Press: Piladelphia, 2002.

References

11. Thomson, J.J. Rays of Postive Electricity and their Applications to Chemical Analysis. Longmans, Greens and Co.: London, **1913**.

Aston, F. W. *Mass Spectra and Isotopes*; Longmans, Green and Co.: New York,
1942.

13. James, A. T.; Martin, A. J. P., Gas-liquid partition chromatography: The separation and miroestimation of volatile fatty acids from formic acid to dodecanoic acid. *Biochemical Journal* **1952**, *50*, 679-690.

14. Holmes, J. C.; Morrell, F. A., Ocillographic mass spectrometric monitoring of gas chromatography. *Applied Spectroscopy* **1957**, *11*, 86-87.

15. Munson, M. S. B; Field, F. H., Chemical ionization mass spectrometry. I. General introduction. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1966**, 2621-2630.

16. Torgerson, D. F., Skowronski, R. P., and Macfarlane, R. D., New approach to the mass spectroscopy of non-volatile compounds. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **1974**, *60*, 616-621.

17. Barber, M., Bordoli, R. S., Sedgwick, R. D. and Tyler, A., Fast atom bombardment of solids as an ion source in mass spectrometry. *Nature* **1981**, *293*, 270-275.

18. Morris, H. R. P., M., Barber, M., Bordoli, R. S., Sedgwick, R. D. and Tyler, A., Fast atom bombardment: a new mass spectrometric method for peptide sequence analysis. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **1981**, *101*, 623-631.

19. Yamashita, M.; Fenn, J. B., Electrospray ion source. Another variation on the free-jet theme. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry* **1984**, 88, 4451-4459.

150

20. Yamashita, M.; Fenn, J. B., Negative ion production with the electrospray ion source. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry* **1984**, 88, 4671-4675.

21. Tanaka, K.; Waki, H.; Ido, Y.; Akita, S.; Yoshida, Y.; Yoshida, T.; Matsuo, T., Protein and polymer analyses up to m/z 100 000 by laser ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* **1988**, *2*, 151-153.

22. Karas, M.; Hillenkamp, F., Laser desorption ionization of proteins with molecular masses exceeding 10,000 daltons. *Analytical Chemistry* **1988**, *60*, 2299-2301.

23. Dole, M., March, L, Hines, R. L., Mobley, R. C., and Alice, M. B., Molecular beams of macroions. *Jouranl of Chemical Physics* **1968**, *49*, 2240-2247.

24. Gaskell, S. J., Electrospray: Principles and Practice. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* **1997**, *32*, 677-688.

25. Taylor, S. G., Disintegration of Water Droplets in an Electric Field. *Mathematical and Physical Sciences* **1964**, 280, 383-397.

26. Iribarne, J. V.; Thomson, B. A., On the evaporation of small ions from charged droplets. *Jouranl of Mass Spectrometry* **1976**, *35*, 804-817.

27. Kebarle, P., A brief overview of the present status of the mechanisms involved in electrospray mass spectrometry. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* **2000**, *35*, 804-817.

Baldwin, M. A. In *Methods in Enzymology*; Burlingame, A. L., Ed.; Academic
Press: 2005; Vol. Volume 402, p 3.

29. Aebersold, R.; Mann, M., Mass spectrometry-based proteomics. *Nature* 2003, 422, 198-207.

30. Zhang, S.; Yao, Z.P., Improved detection of phosphopeptides by negative ion matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry using a proton sponge co-matrix. *Analytica Chimica Acta* **2012**, *711*, 77-82.

151
31. Nordhoff, E.; Kirpekar, F.; Roepstorff, P., Mass spectrometry of nucleic acids. *Mass Spectrometry Reviews* **1996**, *15*, 67-138.

32. Schiller, J.; Süß, R.; Arnhold, J.; Fuchs, B.; Leßig, J.; Müller, M.; Petković, M.; Spalteholz, H.; Zschörnig, O.; Arnold, K., Matrix-assisted laser desorption and ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometry in lipid and phospholipid research. *Progress in Lipid Research* **2004**, *43*, 449-488.

33. Cornett, D. S.; Reyzer, M. L.; Chaurand, P.; Caprioli, R. M., MALDI imaging mass spectrometry: molecular snapshots of biochemical systems. *Nature Methods* 2007, 4, 828-833.

34. Hillenkamp, F.; Karas, M. In *MALDI MS*; Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA: 2007, p 1.

35. Trimpin, S.; Rouhanipour, A.; Az, R.; Räder, H. J.; Müllen, K., New aspects in matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry: a universal solvent-free sample preparation. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* **2001**, *15*, 1364-1373.

36. Trimpin, S.; Deinzer, M. L., Solvent-free MALDI-MS for the analysis of biological samples via a mini-ball mill approach. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry* **2005**, *16*, 542-547.

37. So, P.K.; Yao, Z.P., Oil-Assisted Sample Preparation: A Simple Method for Analysis of Solid Samples Using Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization Mass Spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry* **2011**, *83*, 5175-5181.

38. Glückmann, M.; Pfenninger, A.; Krüger, R.; Thierolf, M.; Karasa, M.; Horneffer,V.; Hillenkamp, F.; Strupat, K., Mechanisms in MALDI analysis: surface interaction or

incorporation of analytes? *International Journal of Mass Spectrometry* **2001**, *210–211*, 121-132.

39. Karas, M.; Krüger, R., Ion Formation in MALDI: The Cluster Ionization Mechanism. *Chemical Reviews* **2003**, *103*, 427-440.

40. Bashir, S.; Mutter, R.; Giannakopulos, A. E.; Wills, M.; Derrick, P. J., Parameterising matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation (MALDI): strategy for matrix—analyte selection and effect of radical co-additives on analyte peak intensities. *Analytica Chimica Acta* **2004**, *519*, 181-187.

41. Knochenmuss, R., Ion formation mechanisms in UV-MALDI. *Analyst* 2006, *131*, 966-986.

42. Chang, W. C.; Huang, L. C. L.; Wang, Y.-S.; Peng, W.-P.; Chang, H. C.; Hsu, N.
Y.; Yang, W. B.; Chen, C. H., Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization (MALDI) mechanism revisited. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 2007, *582*, 1-9.

43. Jaskolla, T.; Karas, M., Compelling Evidence for Lucky Survivor and Gas Phase Protonation: The Unified MALDI Analyte Protonation Mechanism. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry* **2011**, *22*, 976-988.

44. Zenobi, R.; Knochenmuss, R., Ion formation in MALDI mass spectrometry. *Mass Spectrometry Reviews* **1998**, *17*, 337-366.

45. Ehring, H.; Karas, M.; Hillenkamp, F., Role of photoionization and photochemistry in ionization processes of organic molecules and relevance for matrix-assisted laser desorption lonization mass spectrometry. *Organic Mass Spectrometry* **1992**, *27*, 472-480.

46. Karas, M.; Glückmann, M.; Schäfer, J., Ionization in matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization: singly charged molecular ions are the lucky survivors. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* **2000**, *35*, 1-12.

47. Harris, G. A.; Nyadong, L.; Fernandez, F. M., Recent developments in ambient ionization techniques for analytical mass spectrometry. *Analyst* **2008**, *133*, 1297-1301.

Alberici, R.; Simas, R.; Sanvido, G.; Romão, W.; Lalli, P.; Benassi, M.; Cunha, I.
S.; Eberlin, M., Ambient mass spectrometry: bringing MS into the "real world". *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 2010, *398*, 265-294.

49. Huang, M.Z.; Yuan, C.H.; Cheng, S.C.; Cho, Y.T.; Shiea, J., Ambient Ionization Mass Spectrometry. *Annual Review of Analytical Chemistry* **2010**, *3*, 43-65.

50. Cheng, S.-C.; Huang, M.-Z.; Shiea, J., Thin layer chromatography/mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A* **2011**, *1218*, 2700-2711.

51. Chen, H.; Yang, S.; Li, M.; Hu, B.; Li, J.; Wang, J., Sensitive Detection of Native Proteins Using Extractive Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* **2010**, *49*, 3053-3056.

52. Wang, H.; Liu, J.; Cooks, R. G.; Ouyang, Z., Paper Spray for Direct Analysis of Complex Mixtures Using Mass Spectrometry. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* **2010**, *49*, 877-880.

53. Manicke, N.; Abu-Rabie, P.; Spooner, N.; Ouyang, Z.; Cooks, R., Quantitative Analysis of Therapeutic Drugs in Dried Blood Spot Samples by Paper Spray Mass Spectrometry: An Avenue to Therapeutic Drug Monitoring. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry* **2011**, *22*, 1501-1507.

54. Yu, Z.; Chen, L. C.; Erra-Balsells, R.; Nonami, H.; Hiraoka, K., Real-time reaction monitoring by probe electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* **2010**, *24*, 1507-1513.

55. Huang, Y. Q.; You, J. Q.; Yuan, B. F.; Feng, Y. Q., Sample preparation and direct electrospray ionization on a tip column for rapid mass spectrometry analysis of complex samples. *Analyst* **2012**, *137*, 4593-4597.

56. Chan, S. L.F.; Wong, M. Y.M.; Tang, H.W.; Che, C.M.; Ng, K.M., Tissue-spray ionization mass spectrometry for raw herb analysis. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* **2011**, *25*, 2837-2843.

57. Hu, B.; Lai, Y.H.; So, P.K.; Chen, H.; Yao, Z.P., Direct ionization of biological tissue for mass spectrometric analysis. *Analyst* **2012**, *137*, 3613-3619.

58. Liu, J.; Cooks, R. G.; Ouyang, Z., Biological Tissue Diagnostics Using Needle Biopsy and Spray Ionization Mass Spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry* **2011**, *83*, 9221-9225.

59. Liu, J.; Wang, H.; Cooks, R. G.; Ouyang, Z., Leaf Spray: Direct Chemical Analysis of Plant Material and Living Plants by Mass Spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry* **2011**, *83*, 7608-7613.

60. Hu, B.; So, P.K.; Chen, H.; Yao, Z.P., Electrospray Ionization Using Wooden Tips. *Analytical Chemistry* **2011**, *83*, 8201-8207.

61. Talaty, N.; Takats, Z.; Cooks, R. G., Rapid in situ detection of alkaloids in plant tissue under ambient conditions using desorption electrospray ionization. *Analyst* **2005**, *130*, 1624-1633.

62. Miao, Z.; Wu, S.; Chen, H., The Study of Protein Conformation in Solution Via Direct Sampling by Desorption Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry* **2010**, *21*, 1730-1736.

63. Katona, M.; Denes, J.; Skoumal, R.; Toth, M.; Takats, Z., Intact skin analysis by desorption electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. *Analyst* **2011**, *136*, 835-840.

64. Chen, H.; Venter, A.; Cooks, R. G., Extractive electrospray ionization for direct analysis of undiluted urine, milk and other complex mixtures without sample preparation. *Chemical Communications* **2006**, 2042-2044.

65. Zhu, L.; Gamez, G.; Chen, H.; Chingin, K.; Zenobi, R., Rapid detection of melamine in untreated milk and wheat gluten by ultrasound-assisted extractive electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (EESI-MS). *Chemical Communications* **2009**, *0*, 559-561.

66. Merchant, M.; Weinberger, S. R., Recent advancements in surface-enhanced laser desorption/ionization-time of flight-mass spectrometry. *Electrophoresis* **2000**, *21*, 1164-1177.

67. McLafferty, F. W., Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Science* **1981**, *214*, 280-287.

68. Aebersold, R.; Goodlett, D. R., Mass Spectrometry in Proteomics. *Chemical Reviews* 2001, *101*, 269-296.

69. Aitken, A.; Walker, J. M., Protein Identification by Peptide Mass Fingerprinting (*The Proteomics Protocols Handbook*) Walker, J. M., Ed. Humana Press: 2005; pp 355-365.

70. Chernushevich, I. V.; Loboda, A. V.; Thomson, B. A., An introduction to quadrupole-time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* **2001**, *36*, 849-865.

References

71. Shukla, A. K.; Futrell, J. H., Tandem mass spectrometry: dissociation of ions by collisional activation. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* **2000**, *35*, 1069-1090.

72. Vestal, M. L.; Campbell, J. M. In *Methods in Enzymology*; Burlingame, A. L., Ed.; Academic Press: 2005; Vol. Volume 402, p 79.

73. Louris, J. N., Brodbelt-Lustig, Jennifer S., Graham Cooks, R., Glish, Gary L., van Berkel, Gary J. and McLuckey, Scott A., Ion isolation and sequential stages of mass spectrometry in a quadrupole ion trap mass spectrometer. *International Journal of Mass Spectrometry and Ion Processes* **1990**, *96*, 117-137.

74. Jennings, K. R., Collision-induced decompsitions of aromatic molecular ions. *International Journal of Mass Spectrometry and Ion Physics* **1968**, *1*, 227-235.

75. McLafferty, F. W.; Bente, P. F.; Kornfeld, R.; Tsai, S.-C.; Howe, I., Collisional activation spectra of organic ions. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* **1995**, *30*, 797-806.

76. Claeys, M.; Heuvel, H.; Chen, S.; Derrick, P.; Mellon, F.; Price, K., Comparison of high- and low-energy collision-induced dissociation tandem mass spectrometry in the analysis of glycoalkaloids and their aglycons. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry* **1996**, *7*, 173-181.

Kelleher, N. L.; Zubarev, R. A.; Bush, K.; Furie, B.; Furie, B. C.; McLafferty, F.
W.; Walsh, C. T., Localization of Labile Posttranslational Modifications by Electron
Capture Dissociation: The Case of γ-Carboxyglutamic Acid. *Analytical Chemistry* 1999, *71*, 4250-4253.

78. Wu, S.L.; Hühmer, A. F. R.; Hao, Z.; Karger, B. L., On-Line LC–MS Approach Combining Collision-Induced Dissociation (CID), Electron-Transfer Dissociation (ETD), and CID of an Isolated Charge-Reduced Species for the Trace-Level Characterization of

Proteins with Post-Translational Modifications. *Journal of Proteome Research* **2007**, *6*, 4230-4244.

79. Anusiewicz, I.; Berdys-Kochanska, J.; Simons, J., Electron Attachment Step in Electron Capture Dissociation (ECD) and Electron Transfer Dissociation (ETD). *The Journal of Physical Chemistry A* **2005**, *109*, 5801-5813.

80. Good, D. M.; Wirtala, M.; McAlister, G. C.; Coon, J. J., Performance Characteristics of Electron Transfer Dissociation Mass Spectrometry. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics* 2007, 6, 1942-1951.

81. Mikesh, L. M.; Ueberheide, B.; Chi, A.; Coon, J. J.; Syka, J. E. P.; Shabanowitz, J.; Hunt, D. F., The utility of ETD mass spectrometry in proteomic analysis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Proteins and Proteomics* **2006**, *1764*, 1811-1822.

82. Kim, M.S.; Pandey, A., Electron transfer dissociation mass spectrometry in proteomics. *Proteomics* **2012**, *12*, 530-542.

83. McLafferty, F.; Horn, D.; Breuker, K.; Ge, Y.; Lewis, M.; Cerda, B.; Zubarev, R.; Carpenter, B., Electron capture dissociation of gaseous multiply charged ions by Fourier-transform ion cyclotron resonance. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry* **2001**, *12*, 245-249.

84. Zubarev, R. A.; Kelleher, N. L.; McLafferty, F. W., Electron Capture Dissociation of Multiply Charged Protein Cations. A Nonergodic Process. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1998**, *120*, 3265-3266.

85. Chi, A.; Huttenhower, C.; Geer, L. Y.; Coon, J. J.; Syka, J. E. P.; Bai, D. L.; Shabanowitz, J.; Burke, D. J.; Troyanskaya, O. G.; Hunt, D. F., Analysis of phosphorylation sites on proteins from Saccharomyces cerevisiae by electron transfer

dissociation (ETD) mass spectrometry. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **2007**, *104*, 2193-2198.

Prasain, J. K. *Tandem Mass Spectrometry - Applications and Principles*; InTech,
 2012.

87. Schwartz, J. C.; Wade, A. P.; Enke, C. G.; Cooks, R. G., Systematic delineation of scan modes in multidimensional mass spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry* **1990**, *62*, 1809-1818.

88. Yost, R. A.; Enke, C. G., Selected ion fragmentation with a tandem quadrupole mass spectrometer. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1978**, *100*, 2274-2275.

89. Accessed on 20 August 2013: http://www.giga.ulg.ac.be/jcms/prod_61941
4/waters-micromass-quattro-ultima-pt.

90. Morris, H. R.; Paxton, T.; Dell, A.; Langhorne, J.; Berg, M.; Bordoli, R. S.; Hoyes, J.; Bateman, R. H., High Sensitivity Collisionally-activated Decomposition Tandem Mass Spectrometry on a Novel Quadrupole/Orthogonal-acceleration Time-of-flight Mass Spectrometer. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* **1996**, *10*, 889-896.

91. From API QStar Pulsar manual.

92. Chughtai, K.; Heeren, R. M. A., Mass Spectrometric Imaging for Biomedical Tissue Analysis. *Chemical Reviews* **2010**, *110*, 3237-3277.

93. Vickerman, J. C., Molecular imaging and depth profiling by mass spectrometry-SIMS, MALDI or DESI? *Analyst* **2011**, *136*, 2199-2217.

94. Huang, M.Z.; Hsu, H.J.; Lee, J.Y.; Jeng, J.; Shiea, J., Direct Protein Detection from Biological Media through Electrospray-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization/Mass Spectrometry. *Journal of Proteome Research* **2006**, *5*, 1107-1116.

95. Hu, B.; So, P.-K.; Yao, Z.P., Analytical Properties of Solid-substrate Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry* **2013**, *24*, 57-65.

96. Lai, Y.H.; So, P.K.; Lo, S. C.L.; Ng, E. W. Y.; Poon, T. C. W.; Yao, Z.P., Rapid differentiation of Panax ginseng and Panax quinquefolius by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry. *Analytica Chimica Acta* **2012**, *753*, 73-81.

97. Wang, J.; van der Heijden, R.; Spijksma, G.; Reijmers, T.; Wang, M.; Xu, G.; Hankemeier, T.; van der Greef, J., Alkaloid profiling of the Chinese herbal medicine Fuzi by combination of matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization mass spectrometry with liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A* **2009**, *1216*, 2169-2178.

98. Aksyonov, S.; Williams, P., Electrospray ionization using disposable plastic pipette tips. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* **2001**, *15*, 1890-1891.

99. Gibson, G. T. T.; Mugo, S. M.; Oleschuk, R. D., Nanoelectrospray Emitters: Trends and Perspective. *Mass Spectrometry Reviews* **2009**, *28*, 918-936.

100. Yuan, C. H.; Shiea, J., Sequential electrospray analysis using sharp-tip channels fabricated on a plastic chip. *Analytical Chemistry* **2001**, *73*, 1080-1083.

101. Chou, T., Wake up and smell the coffee. Caffeine, coffee, and the medical consequences. *Western Journal of Medicine* **1992**, *157*, 544-553.

102. Bandyopadhyay, P.; Ghosh, A. K.; Ghosh, C., Recent developments on polyphenol-protein interactions: effects on tea and coffee taste, antioxidant properties and the digestive system. *Food & Function* **2012**, *3*, 592-605.

103. Wajda, P.; Walczyk, D., Relationship between acid value of extracted fatty matter and age of green coffee beans. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* **1978**, *29*, 377-380.

104. Casal, S.; Oliveira, M. B. P. P.; Alves, M. R.; Ferreira, M. A., Discriminate Analysis of Roasted Coffee Varieties for Trigonelline, Nicotinic Acid, and Caffeine Content. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **2000**, *48*, 3420-3424.

105. Fujioka, K.; Shibamoto, T., Chlorogenic acid and caffeine contents in various commercial brewed coffees. *Food Chemistry* **2008**, *106*, 217-221.

106. Mendonça, J. C. F.; Franca, A. S.; Oliveira, L. S.; Nunes, M., Chemical characterisation of non-defective and defective green arabica and robusta coffees by electrospray ionization-mass spectrometry (ESI-MS). *Food Chemistry* **2008**, *111*, 490-497.

107. Zhu, J.; Zhang, H.; Qi, S.; Chen, X.; Hu, Z., Micellar Electrokinetic Chromatography Using a Cationic Surfactant for Rapid Separation and Determination of Bisbenzylisoquinoline Alkaloids from Embryo of the Seed of Nelumbo nucifera Gaertn. *Chromatographia* **2011**, *73*, 535-540.

108. Du, H.; Ren, J.; Wang, S., Rapid determination of three alkaloids from Lotus Plumule in human serum using an HPLC-DAD method with a short monolithic column. *Food chemistry* **2011**, *129*, 1320-1324.

109. Chen, Y.; Fan, G.; Wu, H.; Wu, Y.; Mitchell, A., Separation, identification and rapid determination of liensine, isoliensinine and neferine from embryo of the seed of Nelumbo nucifera GAERTN. by liquid chromatography coupled to diode array detector and tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis* **2007**, *43*, 99-104.

110. Ferracane, R.; Graziani, G.; Gallo, M.; Fogliano, V.; Ritieni, A., Metabolic profile of the bioactive compounds of burdock (Arctium lappa) seeds, roots and leaves. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis* **2010**, *51*, 399-404.

111. Boldizsár, I.; Füzfai, Z.; Tóth, F.; Sedlák, É.; Borsodi, L.; Molnár-Perl, I., Mass fragmentation study of the trimethylsilyl derivatives of arctiin, matairesinoside, arctigenin, phylligenin, matairesinol, pinoresinol and methylarctigenin: Their gas and liquid chromatographic analysis in plant extracts. *Journal of Chromatography A* **2010**, *1217*, 1674-1682.

112. Hirose, M.; Yamaguchi, T.; Lin, C.; Kimoto, N.; Futakuchi, M.; Kono, T.; Nishibe, S.; Shirai, T., Effects of arctiin on PhIP-induced mammary, colon and pancreatic carcinogenesis in female Sprague–Dawley rats and MeIQx-induced hepatocarcinogenesis in male F344 rats. *Cancer letters* **2000**, *155*, 79-88.

113. Hayashi, K.; Narutaki, K.; Nagaoka, Y.; Hayashi, T.; Uesato, S., Therapeutic Effect of Arctiin and Arctigenin in Immunocompetent and Immunocompromised Mice Infected with Influenza A Virus. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin* **2010**, *33*, 1199-1205.

114. Epstein, W. W.; Netz, D. F.; Seidel, J. L., Isolation of piperine from black pepper. *Journal of Chemical Education* **1993**, *70*, 598.

Bhardwaj, R. K.; Glaeser, H.; Becquemont, L.; Klotz, U.; Gupta, S. K.; Fromm,
M. F., Piperine, a Major Constituent of Black Pepper, Inhibits Human P-glycoprotein and CYP3A4. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 2002, *302*, 645-650. 116. Raman, G.; Gaikar, V. G., Extraction of Piperine from Piper nigrum (Black Pepper) by Hydrotropic Solubilization. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research* **2002**, *41*, 2966-2976.

117. Mărutoiu, C.; Gogoasa, I.; Oprean, I.; Mărutoiu, O.-F.; Moise, M.-I.; Tigae, C.; Rada, M., Separation and identification of piperine and chavicine in black pepper by TLC and GC-MS. *JPC - Journal of Planar Chromatography - Modern TLC* **2006**, *19*, 250-252.

118. Horie, H.; Kohata, K., Application of capillary electrophoresis to tea quality estimation. *Journal of Chromatography A* **1998**, *802*, 219-223.

119. Pan, X.; Niu, G.; Liu, H., Microwave-assisted extraction of tea polyphenols and tea caffeine from green tea leaves. *Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification* **2003**, *42*, 129-133.

120. Chan, T. W. D.; But, P. P. H.; Cheng, S. W.; Kwok, I. M. Y.; Lau, F. W.; Xu, H.
X., Differentiation and Authentication of Panax ginseng, Panax quinquefolius, and
Ginseng Products by Using HPLC/MS. *Analytical Chemistry* 2000, 72, 1281-1287.

121. Lu, Y.; Chen, D.-F., Analysis of Schisandra chinensis and Schisandra sphenanthera. *Journal of Chromatography A* **2009**, *1216*, 1980-1990.

122. Huang, X.; Song, F.; Liu, Z.; Liu, S., Studies on lignan constituents from Schisandra chinensis (Turcz.) Baill. fruits using high-performance liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization multiple-stage tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* **2007**, *42*, 1148-1161.

123. Pi, Z.; Yue, H.; Ma, L.; Ding, L.; Liu, Z.; Liu, S., Differentiation of various kinds of Fructus schisandrae by surface desorption atmospheric pressure chemical ionization

mass spectrometry combined with Principal Component Analysis. *Analytica Chimica Acta* **2011**, *706*, 285-290.

124. Ashri, N. Y.; Abdel-Rehim, M., Sample treatment based on extraction techniques in biological matrices. *Bioanalysis* **2011**, *3*, 2003-2018.

Huang, X.; Yuan, D., Recent Developments of Extraction and Micro-extraction
Technologies with Porous Monoliths. *Critical Reviews in Analytical Chemistry* 2012, *42*, 38-49.

126. Erve, J. C. L.; DeMaio, W.; Talaat, R. E., Rapid metabolite identification with sub parts-per-million mass accuracy from biological matrices by direct infusion nanoelectrospray ionization after clean-up on a ZipTip and LTQ/Orbitrap mass spectrometry. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* **2008**, *22*, 3015-3026.

127. Wang, K.C.; Shih, T.S.; Cheng, S.G., Use of SPE and LC/TIS/MS/MS for rapid detection and quantitation of ketamine and its metabolite, norketamine, in urine. *Forensic Science International* **2005**, *147*, 81-88.

128. So, P.K.; Ng, T.T.; Wang, H.; Hu, B.; Yao, Z.P., Rapid detection and quantitation of ketamine and norketamine in urine and oral fluid by wooden-tip electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. *Analyst* **2013**.

129. Baczek, T., Fractionation of peptides in proteomics with the use of pI-based approach and ZipTip pipette tips. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis* **2004**, *34*, 851-860.

130. Yeung, Y.G.; Nieves, E.; Angeletti, R. H.; Stanley, E. R., Removal of detergents
from protein digests for mass spectrometry analysis. *Analytical Biochemistry* 2008, *382*, 135-137.

131. Rey, M.; Mrázek, H.; Pompach, P.; Novák, P.; Pelosi, L.; Brandolin, G. r.; Forest, E.; Havlíček, V. r.; Man, P., Effective Removal of Nonionic Detergents in Protein Mass Spectrometry, Hydrogen/Deuterium Exchange, and Proteomics. *Analytical Chemistry* **2010**, *82*, 5107-5116.

132. Arnold, T.; Linke, D. In *Current Protocols in Protein Science*; John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: 2001.

133. Chang, D.Y.; Lee, C.C.; Shiea, J., Detecting Large Biomolecules from High-Salt Solutions by Fused-Droplet Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry* **2002**, *74*, 2465-2469.

134. Cañas, B.; Piñeiro, C.; Calvo, E.; López-Ferrer, D.; Gallardo, J. M., Trends in sample preparation for classical and second generation proteomics. *Journal of Chromatography A* **2007**, *1153*, 235-258.

135. Bowdle, A. T.; Radant, A. D.; Cowley, D. S.; Kharasch, E. D.; Strassman, R. J.; Roy-Byrne, P. P., Psychedelic Effects of Ketamine in Healthy Volunteers: Relationship to Steady- state Plasma Concentrations. *Anesthesiology* **1998**, *88*, 82-88.

136. Shimoyama, M.; Shimoyama, N.; Gorman, A. L.; Elliott, K. J.; Inturrisi, C. E., Oral ketamine is antinociceptive in the rat formalin test: role of the metabolite, norketamine. *Pain* **1999**, *81*, 85-93.

137. Ebert, B.; Mikkelsen, S.; Thorkildsen, C.; Borgbjerg, F. M., Norketamine, the main metabolite of ketamine, is a non-competitive NMDA receptor antagonist in the rat cortex and spinal cord. *European Journal of Pharmacology* **1997**, *333*, 99-104.

138. Kulsudjarit, K., Drug Problem in Southeast and Southwest Asia. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **2004**, *1025*, 446-457.

139. Hunt, K. J.L. a. G., Sit Down to Float: The Cultural Meaning of Ketamine Use in Hong Kong. *Addiction Research & Theory* **2008**, *16*, 259-271.

140. Cheng, W.C.; Ng, K.M.; Chan, K.K.; Mok, V. K.K.; Cheung, B. K.L., Roadside detection of impairment under the influence of ketamine—Evaluation of ketamine impairment symptoms with reference to its concentration in oral fluid and urine. *Forensic Science International* **2007**, *170*, 51-58.

141. Kim, J. Y.; Shin, S. H.; In, M. K., Determination of amphetamine-type stimulants, ketamine and metabolites in fingernails by gas chromatography–mass spectrometry. *Forensic Science International* **2010**, *194*, 108-114.

142. Moore, K. A.; Sklerov, J.; Levine, B.; Jacobs, A. J., Urine Concentrations of Ketamine and Norketamine Following Illegal Consumption. *Journal of Analytical Toxicology* **2001**, *25*, 583-588.

143. Xiang, P.; Shen, M.; Zhuo, X., Hair analysis for ketamine and its metabolites. *Forensic Science International* **2006**, *162*, 131-134.

144. Cheng, P.S.; Fu, C.Y.; Lee, C.H.; Liu, C.; Chien, C.S., GC–MS quantification of ketamine, norketamine, and dehydronorketamine in urine specimens and comparative study using ELISA as the preliminary test methodology. *Journal of Chromatography B* **2007**, *852*, 443-449.

145. Kim, E.M.; Lee, J.M.; Choi, S.M.; Lim, M.A.; Chung, H.S., Analysis of ketamine and norketamine in urine by automatic solid-phase extraction (SPE) and positive ion chemical ionization–gas chromatography–mass spectrometry (PCI–GC–MS). *Forensic Science International* **2008**, *174*, 197-202.

146. Jasentuliyana, N.; Toma, R. B.; Klavons, J. A.; Medora, N., Beverage cloud stability with isolated soy protein. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* **1998**, 78, 389-394.

147. Yang, J.; Hauser, R.; Goldman, R. H., Taiwan food scandal: The illegal use of phthalates as a clouding agent and their contribution to maternal exposure. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* **2013**, *58*, 362-368.

148. Petersen, J. H.; Breindahl, T., Plasticizers in total diet samples, baby food and infant formulae. *Food Additives & Contaminants* **2000**, *17*, 133-141.

149. Aignasse, M. F.; Prognon, P.; Stachowicz, M.; Gheyouche, R.; Pradeau, D., A new simple and rapid HPLC method for determination of DEHP in PVC packaging and releasing studies. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* **1995**, *113*, 241-246.

150. Tickner, J. A.; Schettler, T.; Guidotti, T.; McCally, M.; Rossi, M., Health risks posed by use of Di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate (DEHP) in PVC medical devices: A critical review. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* **2001**, *39*, 100-111.

151. Wams, T. J., Diethylhexylphthalate as an environmental contaminant — A review. *Science of The Total Environment* **1987**, *66*, 1-16.

152. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Overall evaluations of carcinogenicity: an updating of IARC Monographs volumes 1-42, **1987**, 62.

153. Arcadi, F. A.; Costa, C.; Imperatore, C.; Marchese, A.; Rapisarda, A.; Salemi, M.; Trimarchi, G. R.; Costa, G., Oral Toxicity of Bis(2-Ethylhexyl) Phthalate During Pregnancy and Suckling in the Long–Evans Rat. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* **1998**, *36*, 963-970.

154. van Wezel, A. P.; van Vlaardingen, P.; Posthumus, R.; Crommentuijn, G. H.; Sijm, D. T. H. M., Environmental Risk Limits for Two Phthalates, with Special Emphasis on Endocrine Disruptive Properties. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* **2000**, *46*, 305-321.

155. Han, Z.X.; Lv, C.X.; Li, H., Effects of Bis(2-ethylhexyl) Phthalate on Sex Hormones of Common Carp (Cyprinus carpio) and the Protection of Zinc. *Synthesis and Reactivity in Inorganic, Metal-Organic, and Nano-Metal Chemistry* **2009**, *39*, 100-105.

156. Gray, L. E.; Barlow, N. J.; Howdeshell, K. L.; Ostby, J. S.; Furr, J. R.; Gray, C.

L., Transgenerational Effects of Di (2-Ethylhexyl) Phthalate in the Male CRL:CD(SD) Rat: Added Value of Assessing Multiple Offspring per Litter. *Toxicological Sciences* **2009**, *110*, 411-425.

157. Sharman, M.; Read, W. A.; Castle, L.; Gilbert, J., Levels of di- (2- ethylhexyl)phthalate and total phthalate esters in milk, cream, butter and cheese. *Food Additives & Contaminants* **1994**, *11*, 375-385.

158. Tomita, I.; Nakamura, Y.; Yagi, Y., Phthalic acid esters in various foodstuffs and biological materials. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* **1977**, *1*, 275-287.

159. Mutsuga, M.; Wakui, C.; Kawamura, Y.; Maitani, T., Isolation and identification of some unknown substances in disposable nitrile-butadiene rubber gloves used for food handling. *Food Additives & Contaminants* **2002**, *19*, 1097-1103.

160. Tsumura, Y.; Ishimitsu, S.; Kaihara, A.; Yoshii, K.; Tonogai, Y., Phthalates, Adipates, Citrate and Some of the Other Plasticizers Detected in Japanese Retail Foods: a Survey. *Journal of Health Science* **2002**, *48*, 493-502.

Bichara, A.; Fugit, J.L.; Taverdet, J.L., Modeling of mass transfers between food simulants and treated plasticized PVC. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science* 1999, 72, 49-58.

162. Europa, Ban of phthalates in childcare articles and toys, **1999**, IP/99/829.

163. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, National Primary Drinking Water Regulations, **1998**.

164. Hong Kong Government, Hong Kong to Monitor DEHP Levels in Food Imports,2011.

165. US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Method 8061A-Phthalate Esters by Gas Chromatography with Electron Capture Detection (GC/ECD), **1996**.

166. Shintani, H., Pretreatment and chromatographic analysis of phthalate esters, and their biochemical behavior in blood products. *Chromatographia* **2000**, *52*, 721-726.

167. Kambia, K.; Dine, T.; Azar, R.; Gressier, B.; Luyckx, M.; Brunet, C., Comparative study of the leachability of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate and tri(2-ethylhexyl) trimellitate from haemodialysis tubing. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* **2001**, *229*, 139-146.

168. Ballesteros, O.; Zafra, A.; Navalón, A.; Vílchez, J. L., Sensitive gas chromatographic–mass spectrometric method for the determination of phthalate esters, alkylphenols, bisphenol A and their chlorinated derivatives in wastewater samples. *Journal of Chromatography A* **2006**, *1121*, 154-162.

169. Mortensen, G.; Main, K.; Andersson, A.M.; Leffers, H.; Skakkebæk, N., Determination of phthalate monoesters in human milk, consumer milk, and infant formula by tandem mass spectrometry (LC–MS–MS). *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* **2005**, *382*, 1084-1092.

170. Ito, R.; Miura, N.; Iguchi, H.; Nakamura, H.; Ushiro, M.; Wakui, N.; Nakahashi, K.; Iwasaki, Y.; Saito, K.; Suzuki, T.; Nakazawa, H., Determination of tris(2ethylhexyl)trimellitate released from PVC tube by LC–MS/MS. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* **2008**, *360*, 91-95.

171. Taiwan, Method of Test for Phthalate Plasticizers in Foods (Draft), 2011.

172. Cavaliere, B.; Macchione, B.; Sindona, G.; Tagarelli, A., Tandem mass spectrometry in food safety assessment: The determination of phthalates in olive oil. *Journal of Chromatography A* **2008**, *1205*, 137-143.

173. Sørensen, L. K., Determination of phthalates in milk and milk products by liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* **2006**, *20*, 1135-1143.

174. Li, Z.; Xu, L.; Peng, C.; Kuang, H.; Xu, C.; Wang, L.; Xue, F.; Ding, T.; Sheng, C.; Gong, Y., Simultaneous Determination of Nine Types of Phthalate Residues in Commercial Milk Products Using HPLC-ESI-MS-MS. *Journal of Chromatographic Science* **2011**, *49*, 337-343.

Shah, V.; Midha, K.; Findlay, J. A.; Hill, H.; Hulse, J.; McGilveray, I.; McKay,
G.; Miller, K.; Patnaik, R.; Powell, M.; Tonelli, A.; Viswanathan, C. T.; Yacobi, A.,
Bioanalytical Method Validation—A Revisit with a Decade of Progress. *Pharm Res* 2000, *17*, 1551-1557.

176. Almén M S, Nordström K J, Fredriksson R, Schiöth H B: Mapping the human membrane proteome: a majority of the human membrane proteins can be classified according to function and evolutionary origin. BMC Biology **2009**, 7, 50

177. Krogh, A.; Larsson, B.; von Heijne, G.; Sonnhammer, E. L. L., Predicting transmembrane protein topology with a hidden markov model: application to complete genomes. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **2001**, *305*, 567-580.

178. Hockenbery, D.; Nunez, G.; Milliman, C.; Schreiber, R. D.; Korsmeyer, S. J., Bcl-2 is an inner mitochondrial membrane protein that blocks programmed cell death. *Nature* **1990**, *348*, 334-336.

179. Cho, W.; Stahelin, R. V., Membrane-protein interactions in cell signaling and membrane trafficking. *Annual Review of Biophysics and Biomolecular Structure* **2005**, *34*, 119-151.

180. Sachs, J. N.; Engelman, D. M., Introduction to the Membrane Protein Reviews:
The Interplay of Structure, Dynamics, and Environment in Membrane Protein Function. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 2006, 75, 707-712.

181. Foster, M. W.; Hess, D. T.; Stamler, J. S., Protein S-nitrosylation in health and disease: a current perspective. *Trends in Molecular Medicine* **2009**, *15*, 391-404.

182. Sanders, C. R.; Myers, J. K., Disease-related misassembly of membrane of proteins. *Annual Review of Biophysics and Biomolecular Structure* **2004**, *33*, 25-51.

183. Schirmer, E. C.; Florens, L.; Guan, T.; Yates, J. R.; Gerace, L., Nuclear Membrane Proteins with Potential Disease Links Found by Subtractive Proteomics. *Science* **2003**, *301*, 1380-1382.

184. Yildirim, M. A.; Goh, K.I.; Cusick, M. E.; Barabasi, A.L.; Vidal, M., Drug-target network. *Nature Biotechnology* **2007**, *25*, 1119-1126.

185. Neubig, R. R., Regulators of G protein signaling (RGS proteins): Novel central nervous system drug targets. *The Journal of Peptide Research* **2002**, *60*, 312-316.

186. Han, P.; Chen, C., Detergent-free biotin switch combined with liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry in the analysis of S-nitrosylated proteins. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* **2008**, *22*, 1137-1145.

187. Barnidge, D. R.; Dratz, E. A.; Jesaitis, A. J.; Sunner, J., Extraction Method for Analysis of Detergent-Solubilized Bacteriorhodopsin and Hydrophobic Peptides by Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry. *Analytical Biochemistry* **1999**, *269*, 1-9.

188. Shevchenko, A.; Loboda, A.; Shevchenko, A.; Ens, W.; Standing, K. G., MALDI Quadrupole Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry: A Powerful Tool for Proteomic Research. *Analytical Chemistry* **2000**, *72*, 2132-2141.

189. Griffin, T. J.; Gygi, S. P.; Rist, B.; Aebersold, R.; Loboda, A.; Jilkine, A.; Ens,
W.; Standing, K. G., Quantitative Proteomic Analysis Using a MALDI Quadrupole
Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometer. *Analytical Chemistry* 2001, *73*, 978-986.

190. Knochenmuss, R.; Zenobi, R., MALDI Ionization: The Role of In-Plume Processes. *Chemical Reviews* **2002**, *103*, 441-452.

191. Dreisewerd, K., The Desorption Process in MALDI. *Chemical Reviews* 2003, 103, 395-426.

192. Jaskolla, T.; Fuchs, B.; Karas, M.; Schiller, J., The New Matrix 4-Chloro-α-Cyanocinnamic Acid Allows the Detection of Phosphatidylethanolamine Chloramines by MALDI-TOF Mass Spectrometry. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry* **2009**, *20*, 867-874.

193. Rutkowska-Wlodarczyk, I.; Kierdaszuk, B.; Wlodarczyk, J., Analysis of proton exchange kinetics with time-dependent exchange rate. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*) - *Proteins and Proteomics* **2010**, *1804*, 891-898.

194. Rožman, M.; Kazazić, S.; Klasinc, L.; Srzić, D., Kinetics of gas-phase hydrogen/deuterium exchange and gas-phase structure of protonated phenylalanine, proline, tyrosine and tryptophan. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* **2003**, *17*, 2769-2772.

195. Gard, E.; Willard, D.; Bregar, J.; Green, M. K.; Lebrilla, C. B., Site specificity in the H–D exchange reactions of gas-phase protonated amino acids with CH3OD. *Organic Mass Spectrometry* **1993**, *28*, 1632-1639.

196. Gard, E.; Green, M. K.; Bregar, J.; Lebrilla, C. B., Gas-phase hydrogen/deuterium exchange as a molecular probe for the interaction of methanol and protonated peptides. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry* **1994**, *5*, 623-631.

197. Maksić, Z. B.; Kovačević, B., Towards the absolute proton affinities of 20 α amino acids. *Chemical Physics Letters* **1999**, *307*, 497-504.

198. Mandell, J. G.; Falick, A. M.; Komives, E. A., Measurement of Amide Hydrogen Exchange by MALDI-TOF Mass Spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry* **1998**, *70*, 3987-3995.

199. Katta, V.; Chait, B. T., Hydrogen/deuterium exchange electrospray ionization mass spectrometry: a method for probing protein conformational changes in solution. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1993**, *115*, 6317-6321.

200. Englander, J. J.; Del Mar, C.; Li, W.; Englander, S. W.; Kim, J. S.; Stranz, D. D.; Hamuro, Y.; Woods, V. L., Protein structure change studied by hydrogen-deuterium exchange, functional labeling, and mass spectrometry. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **2003**, *100*, 7057-7062.

201. Hoofnagle, A. N.; Resing, K. A.; Ahn, N. G., Protein analysis by hydrogen exchange mass spectrometry. *Annual Review of Biophysics and Biomolecular Structure* **2003**, *32*, 1-25.

202. Wales, T. E.; Engen, J. R., Hydrogen exchange mass spectrometry for the analysis of protein dynamics. *Mass Spectrometry Reviews* **2006**, *25*, 158-170.

203. Winger, B. E.; Light-Wahl, K. J.; Rockwood, A. L.; Smith, R. D., Probing qualitative conformation differences of multiply protonated gas-phase proteins via

hydrogen/deuterium isotopic exchange with water-d2. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1992**, *114*, 5897-5898.

204. Suckau, D.; Shi, Y.; Beu, S. C.; Senko, M. W.; Quinn, J. P.; Wampler, F. M.; McLafferty, F. W., Coexisting stable conformations of gaseous protein ions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **1993**, *90*, 790-793.

205. Cheng, X.; Fenselau, C., Hydrogen/deuterium exchange of mass-selected peptide ions with ND3 in a tandem sector mass spectrometer. *International Journal of Mass Spectrometry and Ion Processes* **1992**, *122*, 109-119.

206. Pascal, S. M.; Cross, T. A., High-resolution structure and dynamic implications for a double-helical gramicidin A conformer. *J Biomol NMR* **1993**, *3*, 495-513.

207. Huo, S.; Arumugam, S.; Cross, T. A., Hydrogen exchange in the lipid bilayerbound gramicidin channel. *Solid State Nuclear Magnetic Resonance* **1996**, *7*, 177-183.

208. Maruyama, T.; Takeuchi, H., Water Accessibility to the Tryptophan Indole N-H Sites of Gramicidin A Transmembrane Channel: Detection of Positional Shifts of Tryptophans 11 and 13 along the Channel Axis upon Cation Binding[†]. *Biochemistry* **1997**, *36*, 10993-11001.

209. Burkhart, B. M.; Gassman, R. M.; Langs, D. A.; Pangborn, W. A.; Duax, W. L.; Pletnev, V., Gramicidin D conformation, dynamics and membrane ion transport. *Peptide Science* **1999**, *51*, 129-144.

210. Jagannadham, M. V.; Nagaraj, R., Conformation of gramicidin a in water: Inference from analysis of hydrogen/deuterium exchange behavior by matrix assisted laser desorption ionization mass spectrometry. *Peptide Science* **2005**, *80*, 708-713.

211. Pittenauer, E.; Zehl, M.; Belgacem, O.; Raptakis, E.; Mistrik, R.; Allmaier, G., Comparison of CID spectra of singly charged polypeptide antibiotic precursor ions

obtained by positive-ion vacuum MALDI IT/RTOF and TOF/RTOF, AP-MALDI-IT and ESI-IT mass spectrometry. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* **2006**, *41*, 421-447.